THE USE OF PESTICIDE-TREATED WOOD PRODUCTS IN AQUATIC ENVIRONMENTS:

Guidelines to NOAA Fisheries Staff for the Endangered Species Act and Essential Fish Habitat Consultations

NOAA Fisheries - Southwest Region Prepared on: *November 12, 2008*

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	.3
CONTAMINANTS	-
Copper Toxicity in the Water Column.	
Copper Toxicity in the Sediments	
PAH Toxicity in the Water Column	
PAH Toxicity in the Sediments.	
17411 Toxicity in the Sediments	
LEACHING RATES, SUBSEQUENT EXPOSURE AND MODEL EVALUATION1	13
Copper Treated Wood – ACZA and CCA	
Creosote Treated Wood	
Exposure from Over-Water Use of Pesticide-treated Wood Products	
Exposure from Construction Debris	
LINKAGE OF TOXICITY, MODELING, FIELD STUDIES AND EXPECTED	
IMPACTS	19
BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES	
Proper Material Selection – BMP Pesticide-treated Wood	
Proper Material Selection – Environmental Conditions	
Require Site Specific Assessments for all Larger Scale Projects	22
Timing of Installation	
Construction BMPs	23
Demolition BMPs2	24
In-water Coatings and Wraps	25
Over-water Coatings	26
Alternate Materials	26
Miscellaneous BMPs2	28
Mitigation for Remaining Impacts.	28
POTENTIAL EXPOSURE SCENARIOS.	
	29
	30
Vehicle Bridges	30
Bridges/Boardwalks	
Railroads3	
Highway Related Uses and Utility Poles.	32
CONCLUSION.	32
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
Cited References.	36
References Considered, but Not Cited	

Introduction

The purpose of this guidance is to assist biologists for the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS or NOAA Fisheries) to understand the issues relating to marine uses of pesticide-treated wood and to make consistent effect determinations for projects proposing to use these products. The use of pesticide-treated wood products in aquatic environments is a wide-spread practice developed to protect the wood from degradation by aquatic organisms capable of consuming wood. This guidance briefly discusses the contaminants of concern in these products (copper and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)) and their potential to leach into the aquatic environment. This guidance also outlines Best Management Practices (BMPs) to prevent or minimize exposure of NOAA trust resources to these contaminants and describes several potential exposure scenarios that consulting biologists may routinely encounter. Of chief concern in this guidance are the effects of the contaminants on salmonids, many of which are managed under the Endangered Species Act (ESA), and the Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) provisions of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA). This guidance is to be used in conjunction with site-specific evaluations of other potential impacts.

The most common treatments for protecting wood used in aquatic applications contain copper or creosote (which is composed of PAHs), both of which are classified as pesticides and regulated under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA). FIFRA requires that all pesticides be registered with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) through a registration process that requires a period of data collection to determine the effectiveness and hazards of the particular substance. Some pesticides such as creosote were registered with the EPA as part of the original enactment of FIFRA and were never adequately assessed for risk. The EPA has thus been "reregistering" such pesticides to ensure that their risks are fully evaluated and understood.

However, the FIFRA registration process is not in itself sufficient to address ESA concerns, and the weaknesses of the FIFRA process in this regard have been well documented in the EPA's Overview document (EPA 2004) and in a joint evaluation of the FIFRA process by NOAA Fisheries and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) (NMFS and USFWS 2004). In regard to copper and creosote, in 2004 and 2006 NOAA Fisheries identified specific problems with the re-registration processes for these substances and communicated those concerns in correspondence to the EPA (NMFS 2004a and 2006). Creosote was reviewed by NOAA Fisheries specifically for effects to EFH and was found likely to cause adverse impacts to such habitat (NMFS 2004a). Although NOAA Fisheries requested consultation on the re-registration of creosote, the EPA elected to postpone the re-registration process. The EPA conducted another ecological risk assessment as part of the creosote re-registration process in March 2008 (EPA 2008a and 2008b), but does not plan to initiate ESA or EFH consultations at this time.

Similarly, NOAA Fisheries commented on the EPA's ecological risk assessment for the re-registration of pesticides containing copper (NMFS 2006). In its ecological risk assessment, the EPA did not consider available studies from the large body of information on the sublethal effects of copper to critical sensory functions of salmonids (NMFS 2006); nevertheless, the EPA finalized the Re-registration Eligibility Decision (RED) for coppers despite this important omission (EPA 2006). Moreover, in March 2008, the EPA released draft Ecological Hazard and Environmental Risk Assessment documents as part of the re-registration process for inorganic arsenical wood preservatives, specifically for chromated copper arsenate (CCA), and in that assessment the EPA defers to the copper RED for consideration of impacts to ESA listed salmonids, again despite its noted deficiencies (EPA 2008c). Because these documents do not adequately consider or analyze all the impacts of these substances on NOAA trust resources, the current uses of pesticide-treated wood products cannot be assumed to be protective of those resources.

NOAA Fisheries began to grapple with the issue of pesticide-treated wood use in environments used by ESA listed salmonids in the mid-1990s as research on the topic became prevalent. In 1995, the Portland Oregon District of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) requested that the use of pesticide-treated wood products be covered in an ESA Section 7 biological opinion. In 1998, the Northwest Region (NWR) of NOAA Fisheries issued a position document that included a box model developed by Battell Pacific Northwest National Laboratory to predict contaminant concentrations. The NWR's position document accepted the use of pesticide-treated wood products in waters with ESA-listed salmonids, but required that project managers gather information to verify that the project would not result in unacceptable impacts to salmonids or their habitat and further required that project proposals contain some restrictions on the use of pesticide-treated wood in salmonid habitat (NMFS 1998).

These new requirements and restrictions began a long-running debate with the wood treatment industry. Over the years, as additional species of salmonids have been listed under the ESA, a significant number of new studies have been conducted; numerous agencies have issued guidelines or requirements regarding pesticide-treated wood uses; and retention standards for pesticide-treated wood products have been updated to reflect minimum levels needed for an application. In November 2004, NOAA Fisheries NWR issued a programmatic biological opinion that examined and allows the use of significant volumes of pesticide-treated wood materials (NMFS 2004b) known as SLOPES III.

The State of Washington has been renewing similar programmatic consultations with the USACE on marine uses of pesticide-treated wood products since 2005 (Sibley, Tom, pers. comm. 2008). Currently, the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife is developing a Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP) that will likely include BMPs and restrictions for the use of pesticide-treated wood products, when conducting activities covered under the HCP (Kreitman, Gayle pers comm. 2008). The Western Wood Preservers Institute (WWPI) put a BMP program in place, subsequently updated in 2006, to ensure that pesticide-treated wood products are produced in a manner that lessens the impact to aquatic environments and issued their own guidance document for using

pesticide-treated wood products in aquatic environments. The WWPI document, Treated Wood in Aquatic Environments (WWPI 2006a), develops retention standards for various preservatives and applications, gives guidance on when individual risk assessments are needed, and discusses BMPs for the manufacture of pesticide-treated wood products, which should prevent unnecessary preservative loading and promote construction BMPs. A second document from WWPI gives more detail on pesticide-treated wood products produced using BMPs (WWPI 2006b).

After the issue surfaced in the mid-1990s, other agencies took actions related to the use of pesticide-treated wood products. The Canadian Department of Fisheries and Oceans issued guidelines in 2000 that recognize treated (and untreated) wood structures have the potential to impact the aquatic environment; however, the use of pesticide-treated wood products is still allowed in Canada with certain restrictions (Hutton and Samis 2000). The WDFW stopped the use of creosote-treated wood in freshwater lakes (Poston 2001, Kreitman, Gayle, pers. comm. 2008) and determined that other restrictions may be appropriate. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's Division of Engineering produced a guidance document for wooden bridge design that requires any pesticide-treated wood be manufactured in accordance with BMPs (USFWS 2001). The USACE Los Angeles District created a standard permit condition requiring that creosote pilings be wrapped in plastic, be sealed at all joints to prevent leakage, and use rub strips or bumpers at friction points (Castanon, David pers. comm., 2004). In their Procedures for Permitting Projects guidance, the Sacramento and San Francisco Districts of the USACE determined that small boat dock, pier, and wharf construction projects that coat pesticide-treated wood materials with impact-resistant, biologically inert material will "Not Adversely Affect Selected Listed Species in California" (USACE 2006).

Acting at the request of San Francisco Bay area stakeholders in the last quarter of Fiscal Year 2004, the Habitat Conservation Division of NOAA Fisheries' Southwest Region (SWR) decided to commission an independent, third party review of the pesticide-treated wood issue. The review was conducted by Stratus Environmental Consulting, Inc (Stratus), to examine the latest data and explore guideline development that reflects the risk of using these products in environments supporting listed salmonids, as well as EFH. Additional funding support was provided by the NWR and Alaska Region Habitat Conservation Divisions. Two reports were prepared: one covering copper-based treatments, focusing on the most prevalent treatments for in-water use: ammoniacal copper zinc arsenate (ACZA) and chromated copper arsenate (CCA) (Stratus 2006a); and one covering creosote-treated wood (Stratus 2006b). These reports were generated by a comprehensive (but not exhaustive) literature review, as well as discussions with NOAA Fisheries and industry. A database containing 523 literature/reference entries was submitted by Stratus to NOAA Fisheries with the final reports. The final reports (Stratus 2006a, 2006b) were peer-reviewed through established NOAA Fisheries protocols and received public review and comment. Some changes resulted from these two review processes, and the completed final reports were submitted to NOAA Fisheries in 2007.

Stratus found that the requirements of various agencies and the recommendations of the pesticide-treated wood industry are in close alignment with one another. Both agency

and industry documents note that pesticide-treated wood products can be used safely, but can cause harm if used improperly. Site-specific conditions at the project are very important in influencing and evaluating project impacts. Conditions that need to be considered include background concentrations, density of product installation, location of other pesticide-treated wood structures, and environmental conditions. Among the environmental conditions that need evaluation are flows, sediment composition, sediment oxygen levels and tidal exchange. The simple box model put forward in 1998 and the models subsequently developed by industry were determined to be generally useful for predicting levels of environmental contamination that may result from pesticide-treated wood use. The results from these models are subject to some significant uncertainties, however, and are not sufficiently developed for making precise predictions. The models should therefore be used in conjunction with site-specific information (Stratus 2006a).

The Stratus reports concluded that properly selected pesticide-treated wood can be used safely in many well planned projects, but also recommended that individual screening level assessments be conducted when the use of these products is proposed in habitat supporting ESA-listed salmonids or other anadromous species. This level of risk assessment is analogous to the initial review to determine if a project may affect, but is not likely to adversely affect, a listed species or adversely impact EFH. Levels of risk that are acceptable may be clarified at a regional scale using a programmatic biological opinion, a habitat conservation plan, or guidance. If a project passes this screening level assessment, then a more detailed site-specific risk assessment will not be required. A determination that listed species may be affected requires additional information and a site-specific risk assessment analysis. The threshold for a "not likely to adversely affect" determination requires that impacts to the listed species cannot be meaningfully measured, detected, or evaluated, and that the impact does not prevent designated critical habitat from supporting the recovery of the listed species. An EFH analysis is required to determine if the action will adversely affect the quantity or quality of the habitat. The use of pesticide-treated wood is just one aspect of a project that will be considered in these evaluations (that is, the construction and presence of the project will be evaluated regardless of the construction material for effects).

A level of local knowledge is required to make a defendable determination for these types of projects (NMFS 2003, Poston 2001); therefore, the guidance provided in this document cannot replace local review. This local knowledge can be applied by the biologist on a site-by-site basis, or will be applied by NOAA Fisheries in a programmatic opinion or regional guidance. Local knowledge is critical in determining if a proposed project can be approved informally, without a full risk assessment or biological opinion under the ESA. Documents from NOAA Fisheries, other agencies, and the pesticide-treated wood industry all recognize that individual risk assessments may need to be conducted for some projects, such as those involving installation of numerous pilings, large surface areas (e.g. bulkheads), areas with elevated background levels of contaminants, areas with other pesticide-treated wood infrastructure, areas with little flow or tidal exchange, or other especially sensitive areas (NMFS 1998, 2003, and 2004; Hutton and Samis 2000; USACE 2006; WWPI 2006a). The general acknowledgement

that a closer examination may be needed is a good example of how viewpoints on this subject have come closer together in the past several years.

The use of pesticide-treated wood has declined from historical highs. Because concrete and steel have greater load bearing capacity, few wharves and other large structures are currently being constructed on wood pilings (Brooks 2003). In particular, concrete pilings are cost-competitive with pesticide-treated wood pilings over the long-term and are competing in these markets (Stratus 2006a). Most projects using pesticide-treated wood pilings (such as personal use docks), are small and involve two to five pilings spaced at least four meters apart (Brooks 2003). Many bridges are small enough to use pesticide-treated wood for decking, but the abutments are often concrete or steel and are constructed outside of the 100-year flood zone (Hayward, Dennis, pers comm., 2006). Other significant uses of pesticide-treated wood (such as railroad ties, highway sign posts and utility poles) generally only interact with the aquatic environment during flooding or through improper disposal of construction or demolition debris. Yet, despite the overall decline in pesticide-treated wood use, many instances continue to arise where project proponents wish to use pesticide-treated wood.

Contaminants

In pesticide-treated wood products, the main active ingredients of concern for effects to fishery resources are copper, in metal treated wood products, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), in creosote treated wood. This section provides brief discussions of the toxicological concerns of these pollutants to fishery resources. The Stratus reports (2006a, 2006b) and a recent technical memorandum from the NMFS Northwest Fishery Science Center and Office of Protected Resources (Hecht *et al.* 2007) should be consulted for more details. They contain many other useful references and resources.

Copper Toxicity in the Water Column

The two main types of metal treated wood, used in aquatic applications along the west coast (including Alaska) are: ACZA and CCA. ACZA contains copper, zinc, chromium and arsenic. ACZA use is more prevalent on the west coast, because it effectively treats Douglas fir, which grows along the west coast. CCA contains chromium and arsenic, in addition to copper. Copper is the focal point of this examination, because it leaches from pesticide-treated wood products at rates that can affect aquatic resources. Copper is a common contaminant in salmon habitat, where it is deposited by mines, urban stormwater runoff, pesticide-treated wood leachate, diffusion from boat hull coatings and from algicides used in waterways or fungicides applied to cropland (WWPI 1996, Weis and Weis 1996, Baldwin *et al.* 2003, Weis and Weis 2004). Understanding the levels and forms of copper (or any contaminant) already in a system is crucial to determining the potential impact of adding more copper and will be discussed shortly, along with the benchmark concentration analysis from Hecht *et al.* (2007).

Copper leaches from treated wood products in a dissolved state. Once in the aquatic system, it can rapidly bind to organic and inorganic materials in suspension. The adsorbed material may then settle and become incorporated into the sediments. Although

copper may stay bound in sediments, it may also be resuspended, dissolved in interstitial water or reenter the water column depending upon biotic, physical, and chemical conditions at the site. This copper may be taken up by organisms that inhabit or ingest benthic sediments. Additionally, the copper could be taken up by some species of plants or algae and reintroduced to the ecosystem via consumption or decomposition of these plants (Weis and Weis 2002, 1992).

Eisler (2000), Stratus (2006a) and Hecht et al. (2007) present usable summaries of the impacts of copper to fish and aquatic invertebrates. The breadth of this information is too long to present in significant detail in this document. Environmentally realistic concentrations of free copper are noted to impact the resistance of fishes to disease, cause hyperactivity, impair respiration, disrupt osmoregulation or impact olfactory performance. This last impact will be discussed in some detail because it is caused by lower concentrations of dissolved copper than the other impacts noted here and has implications for ESA listed salmonids. Stratus (2006a) and NMFS (Hecht et al. 2007) note that species mean acute 96-hour LC₅₀ (lethal concentration to 50% of the test subjects) values of 19-108.1 µg Cu/l (parts per billion) were found for species of Oncorhynchus in freshwater environments. Although there are few studies of salmonids in estuarine conditions, the available information indicates that acute copper toxicity (i.e. mortality) typically decreases with increasing salinity (Eisler 2000, Stratus 2006a). Increasing hardness and/or salinity impairs the transport of dissolved copper across the gill membrane and thus affect toxic responses mediated by this mechanism (such as acute mortality). Olfaction mediated behavioral impacts from dissolved copper do not seem to be reduced by increasing hardness of freshwater. This is probably because the olfactory rosette is in direct contact with the aquatic environment and is not protected by a membrane. There is a distinct lack of information in the marine environment regarding potential impairment of olfaction by dissolved copper or other metals (Hecht et al. 2007).

A NOAA Technical Memorandum (Hecht et al. 2007) on the effects of dissolved copper (dCu) on juvenile salmonid sensory systems was published in October 2007. The purpose of the paper was to summarize information on effects, conduct a benchmark concentration analysis (to generate effect thresholds), and to discuss site-specific considerations of sensory system effects. A large body of scientific literature has shown that fish behaviors can be disrupted at concentrations of dissolved copper that are at, or slightly above, ambient concentrations (i.e. background) (Sandahl et al. 2007, 2004, Baldwin et al. 2003, Hanson et al. 1999a, 1999b). Hecht et al. (2007) defined background as surface waters (freshwater) with less than 3 ug/L dCu. This definition was used because the experimental water had background dCu concentrations as high as 3 ug/L dCu. Sensory system effects are generally among the more sensitive fish responses and underlie important behaviors involved in growth, reproduction, and ultimately survival (i.e. predator avoidance). Recent experiments on the sensory systems and corresponding behavior of juvenile salmonids contribute to more than four decades of research showing that dCu is neurotoxic, and directly damages the sensory capabilities of salmonids at low concentrations. These effects can become manifest over a period of minutes or hours and can persist for weeks.

Hecht *et al.* (2007) calculated benchmark concentrations (BMC) for dCu using an EPA methodology, to provide examples of effect thresholds to assist in evaluating effects of activities causing copper inputs to surface waters. BMC's ranged from 0.79 – 2.1 μg/l, corresponding to reductions in olfactory sensitivity of approximately 29.3 – 57% (95% confidence interval). The BMC examples represent the dCu concentration above background (where background is less than or equal to 3 ug/L), that is expected to affect juvenile salmonids' ability to avoid predators in fresh water. These concentration thresholds for juvenile salmonid sensory and behavioral responses fall within the range of other sublethal endpoints affected by dCu such as behavior, growth, and primary production, 0.75-2.5 μg/L. For example, Hansen *et al.* (1999a and 1999b) found that salmon will actively avoid dCu at levels 2 ug/L above background, if their olfactory abilities are not yet impaired. Sandahl *et al.* (2007) found that a three hour exposure to the same concentration of dCu (2 ug/L above background) reduced odor-evoked predator avoidance response in juvenile coho salmon that is triggered through the olfactory system.

Olfactory function becomes impaired if salmon are unable to avoid copper pollution within the first few minutes of exposure. If copper levels subsequently exceed a threshold for sensory cell death, it may take weeks before the functional properties of the olfactory system recover (Baldwin *et al.* 2003). Even transient exposure, lasting just a few minutes to copper at levels typical for surface waters from urban and agricultural watersheds, and within the U.S. Environmental Agency water quality criterion for copper, will cause greater than 50% loss of sensory capacity among resident coho in freshwater habitats (Baldwin *et al.* 2003). While that loss may be at least partially reversible, longer exposures (lasting hours) have caused cell death in the olfactory receptor neurons of other salmonid species (Julliard *et al.* 1996, Hansen *et al.* 1999b, Moran *et al.* 1992). Olfactory cues convey important information about habitat quality, predators, mates, and the animal's natal stream, thus substantial copper-induced loss of olfactory capacity will likely impair behaviors essential for the survival or reproductive success of salmon and steelhead (Baldwin *et al.* 2003).

In summary, dissolved copper (such as that leached from copper-treated wood products) has been determined to decrease salmonid olfactory performance at concentrations as low as 0.79 ug/L above background (95% confidence interval) (Hecht *et al.* 2007). The effect level may be even lower, depending upon the level of confidence selected (e.g. at a 90% confidence interval, the effects level was determined to be 0.59 μ g/L above background). The severity of the impact is dependent upon the length of the exposure, as well as the concentration. Behavioral avoidance has been shown at ~2 ug/L dCu above background levels. This information should be used by resource managers and other decision makers to determine if pesticide-treated wood products can generate these elevated levels of dissolved copper, for how long, and over how extensive an area.

Copper Toxicity in the Sediments

For many species, the greatest probability of adverse effects is from long-term accumulation of copper in sediments. This affects prey sources through contamination, or reducing availability (NMFS 2003). Metals leached into sediments near CCA-treated

wood in aquatic environments have been found to accumulate in benthic and epibenthic organisms (Weis and Weis 2004). Other animals can acquire elevated levels of copper indirectly through trophic transfer, and may exhibit toxic effects at the cellular level (DNA damage), tissue level (pathology), organism level (reduced growth, altered behavior and mortality) and community level (reduced abundance, reduced species richness, and reduced diversity) (Weis *et al.* 1998, Weis and Weis 2004, Eisler 2000). Trophic transfer from invertebrates to vertebrates is less clear than from algae to invertebrates, or from one invertebrate to another. Weis and Weis (1992, 1993, 2004) found trophic transfer from algae to snails and from oysters to predatory snails. However, researchers found no evidence of trophic transfer from amphipods to fish or higher vertebrates, even in areas with higher contaminant levels that may have impacted species richness (Weis *et al.* in Kelty and Bliven 2003). An experiment conducted by Saward *et al.* (1975 in Eisler 2000) found reduced growth in a juvenile marine flatfish species (plaice), following the food chain transfer of copper from phytoplankton to clam to flatfish. Dietary tolerance in fish may be highly species specific.

Effects of copper on invertebrates are more severe in poorly flushed areas and in areas where the pesticide-treated wood is relatively new. However, effects decrease after the wood has leached a few months (Weis and Weis 2004). Weis and Weis (2004) determined that concentrations of copper in sediments near dock pilings, in moderately flushed areas, did not show accumulation of metals. This presumably occurred because the pilings have less exposed surface area for leaching than the bulkheads. Under current industry guidelines (WWPI 2006a), site-specific evaluations are recommended (for more robust examination of effects) for projects proposing to use large volumes of pesticide-treated wood (such as bulkheads).

The threshold level of copper in sediments that begins to affect habitat functions is variable. Toxicity of sediments is mediated by the presence of acid volatile sulfides and organic matter, which bind metals and greatly reduce their toxicity, as well as by the sensitivity of local species. To consider these factors at site evaluations, project proponents should conduct tests to quantify sulfide, organic matter, pH and redox potential of the sediments to determine the effect on expected copper toxicity. Simple toxicity testing (i.e. amphipod testing) would also help determine if existing conditions are already impacting the quality of the habitat.

There are several common metrics for examining contaminant levels in sediments to determine impacts on aquatic life. Among the most common metrics are two that were generated by NOAA: the effects range low (ER-L), and the effects range median (ER-M) (NOAA 1999). These values were generated from a literature review conducted by the NOAA Status and Trends Program (Long and Morgan 1990) and subsequently updated (Long *et al.* 1995). The ER-L is defined as the 10th percentile of the effects database (from this literature review) for each substance examined, while the ER-M is set at the 50th percentile. Therefore, the ER-L is meant to indicate concentrations below which adverse effects rarely occur, while the ER-M is meant to be representative of concentrations above which effects frequently occur. For copper in sediment, the ER-L was determined to be 34 mg/kg dry weight and the ER-M was determined to be 270

mg/kg dry weight. The data presented in NOAA (1999) shows a percent incidence of effects at concentrations of copper <ER-L of 9.4% and of 83.7% for concentrations >ER-M. For studies with sediment copper values between the ER-L and the ER-M, the percent incidence of effects was 29.1%. A tabular presentation of ER-Ls and ER-Ms is available for downloading at:

response.restoration.noaa.gov/cpr/sediment/squirt/squirt.htm

NMFS (1998) used the ER-L copper threshold level as the effects level threshold. The area examined (lower Columbia River) had a background concentration of 20 mg/kg. This decision to use the ER-L was questioned by the pesticide-treated wood industry as being overly protective, since the NOAA database showed this level of copper in the sediments had only a 10% chance of causing an effect to EFH in the study area. NOAA agreed because of the variability observed in the background concentrations, but determined that keeping an increase of sediment copper to less than 50% is a reasonable management objective for projects (NMFS 2001).

Other sediment quality guidelines have been developed, and a significant debate continues regarding their appropriateness. The threshold effects level (TEL) guideline is defined as the 15th percentile concentration of the toxics effects data set and the median of the no-effect data set. The TEL represents the concentration below which adverse effects are expected to occur (only rarely) and is 18.7 mg/kg for copper (Buchman 1999). The probable effects level (PEL) is the level above which adverse effects are frequently expected. For copper, the PEL is 108.2 mg/kg. The PEL represents the geometric mean of the 50% of impacted, toxic samples and the 85% of the non-impacted samples (Buchman 1999). The TEL and the PEL are used in Florida and Canada. California has proposed the use of a multiple lines of evidence sediment quality guideline system, which requires sediment chemistry measurements, sediment toxicity testing, and measurements of benthic community condition (SWRCB 2008). This system is designed to eliminate uncertainties that typically remain when only sediment chemistry data is collected.

PAH Toxicity in the Water Column

Creosote is a distillate of coal tar and is a variable mixture of 200-250 compounds consisting of simple PAHs, multi-aromatic fused rings, cyclic nitrogen-containing heteronuclear compounds and phenolic substances (EPA 2008a, 2008b, 2003). PAHs are the dominant class of compounds found in creosote and comprise approximately 85% of creosote's mass (EPA 2003, Stratus 2006b). Sixteen of the top 17 PAHs found most commonly in creosote are on the EPA's List of Priority Pollutants, pursuant to the Clean Water Act (EPA 2003). Currently, there are two formulations of creosote in use: P1/P13 (used for aquatic applications) and P2 (used for railroad ties and utility poles) (Stratus 2006b).

PAHs are released from wood treated with creosote and are known to cause cancer, reproductive anomalies, and immune dysfunction; to impair growth and development; and to cause other impairments in fish exposed to sufficiently high concentrations over periods of time (Johnson *et al.* 1999, Karrow et al. 1999, Johnson 2000, Stehr *et al.* 2000, Collier *et al.* 2002, Johnson *et al.* 2002, Sherry et al. 2005, Stratus 2006b). When

exposed to creosote-derived PAH concentrations as low as 320 µg/L, Spot (*Leiostomus* xanthurus, also called flat croaker) exhibited fin erosion and epidermal lesions (Sved et al. 1992). Embyonic exposures can result in edema (swelling) of the yolk sack, hemorrhaging, disruption of cardiac function, enzyme induction, mutation of progeny, craniofacial and spinal deformities, neuronal cell death, anemia, reduced growth and impaired swimming (Barron et al. 2003, Billiard et al. 1999, 2002, Brinkworth et al. 2003, Marty et al. 1997: all cited in Barron et al. 2004, Incardona et al. 2004, 2005, Wassenberg and Di Giulio 2004a, 2004b). Exposure to sunlight has been observed to result in a 48-fold increase in toxicity of some PAHs to herring larvae (Barron et al. 2003), an increased medaka embryo failure rate (Diamond et al. 2006), impacts to invertebrates (Pelletier et al. 1997, Swartz et al. 1997) and resulted in as little as 2 µg/L becoming toxic to calanoid copepods (Duesterloh et al. 2002)). Impacts to phytoplankton and zooplankton communities have also been reported in the literature (Sibley et al. 2004, 2001a, 2001b, Bestari *et al.* 1998a). Traditional LC₅₀ testing (24 and 96 hour tests) for invertebrates and fish resulted in a range of effect levels generally between 0.1 and 4 mg/L (parts per million). This concentration is greater than what is typically encountered, even in polluted surface waters (Eisler 2000). Crustaceans tend to be relatively more sensitive in these tests than fish species.

Several studies demonstrate that PAHs harm the egg-larval lifestage of Pacific herring (Vines et al. 2000, Carls et al. 1999), surf smelt (Misitano et al. 1994) and pink salmon (Heintz et al. 1999, Bue et al. 1998). Vines et al. (2000) studied the hatching success of herring eggs (exposed to PAHs leaching from creosote pilings) and found that 0% of the eggs attached to the piece of piling hatched. In addition, 40-50% of nonattached eggs had delayed development and the surviving embryos all had morphological abnormalities. This study established a LC₅₀ for creosote leachate of 50 µg/L for the herring embryos, with sublethal effects observed at concentrations as low as 3 µg/L. The applicability of this study, to actual environmental conditions, is weakened by its static water design with small chambers. An additional field observation of toxicity was made by the same author (Cherr and Vines 1997), but mortality may have been affected by other factors (such as temperature and salinity). The creosote formulation and loading at this observation was not reported. Carls et al. (1999) showed that total dissolved PAH concentrations from weathered oil of 0.7 µg/L caused morphological malformations, genetic damage, inhibited swimming, decreased size and mortality of larval Pacific herring. Sublethal effects (such as yolk sac edema and delayed mortality) were observed at concentrations as low as 0.4 µg/L total dissolved PAH. Poston (2001) reviews several other studies of the effects of weathered crude oil (high molecular weight PAHs such as those found in creosote contaminated sediments) and other PAHs or sources on various endpoints including the spawning success of pink salmon and herring.

PAHs bioaccumulate in many invertebrate species (Varanasi *et al.* 1989, 1992; Meador *et al.* 1995), but are metabolized significantly by many vertebrates (including fishes) where they are converted to water-soluble forms and excreted (Varanasi *et al.* 1989, Stratus 2006b). Some of the intermediate metabolites in this process exhibit carcinogenic, mutagenic and cytotoxic properties. Metabolic capacity is generally very high in vertebrates, intermediate in crustaceans and limited in bivalves (Meador *et al.* 1995).

PAH Toxicity in the Sediments

The main exposure scenario of concern for PAHs, including those leached from creosote treated wood, occurs as they accumulate in sediments and are assimilated into the food web. As mentioned in the last section, the concentration of creosote derived PAHs required to cause acute mortality to nonlarval fish is generally high enough that the level rarely occurs. More frequently, it is the chronic and dietary exposures to the higher weight PAHs remaining in sediments that cause the effects listed in the last paragraph (i.e. cancer, reproductive anomalies, immune dysfunction, growth and development impairment, and other impairments to fish exposed to sufficiently high concentrations over periods of time or exposed during their egg or larval life stages). Effects are more prevalent in benthic species (such as English sole, winter flounder and brown bullhead), due to their frequent contact with the sediments (Stratus 2006b).

There is a significant debate over what level of PAHs in sediments cause the adverse effects discussed. Research by scientists at the NMFS Northwest Fisheries Science Center (Johnson *et al.* 2002) suggested a sediment threshold level for total PAH of 1 part per million (mg/kg dry weight) would protect estuarine, bottom dwelling fish (such as the English sole examined in the study), from detrimental effects (such as liver lesions, spawning inhibition and reduced egg viability). This level (1 mg/kg) was the lowest at which effects to English sole began to be observed. A model developed as part of this study predicted a 10-fold increase in DNA adducts (a complex formed when a carcinogen combines with DNA or a protein) at 5 mg/kg total PAH compared to control fish, resulting in liver disease to approximately 30% of the exposed fish and increasing failure to spawn. The authors noted a concern that other carcinogenic contaminants (PCBs, chlorinated pesticides, and trace metals) that were present in the sediments of the Puget Sound at the various study locations may be significant confounding factors.

The ER-L for total PAHs is approximately 4mg/kg, while the TEL (approximately 1.7 mg/kg) is closer to the level suggested by Johnson *et al.* (2002). The concentrations of concern are even lower for total high molecular weight (HMW) PAHs, which typically remain in the sediments, with an ER-L of 1.7 mg/kg and a TEL of 0.66 mg/kg (Buchman 1999). These are environmentally realistic concentrations that may be exceeded in industrialized or urbanized areas; however, these are the levels where effects are predicted to begin. The ER-M for total PAHs is approximately 44.8 mg/kg (total HMW PAH = 9.6 mg/kg), while the PEL is approximately 16.7 mg/kg (total HMW PAHs = 6.7 mg/kg). Sediments with PAH levels above the lower thresholds warrant protection from additional contamination in order to protect the function of the sediment for EFH as well as ESA listed species. The next discussion of this information considers if pesticide-treated wood products can generate these elevated levels of PAHs in sediments, for how long and over what area of a waterbody.

Leaching Rates, Subsequent Exposure and Model Evaluation

Now that the toxicity of the contaminants has been summarized, it must be determined if the use of pesticide-treated wood products will result in conditions that may impact NOAA trust resources in a manner which can be meaningfully measured, detected, or

evaluated. Conditions should be evaluated for adverse affects to species listed under the ESA, limitations to the functions of designated critical habitat to support recovery of a listed species, or adverse affects to the quantity or quality of EFH. This section will briefly present information on leaching rates of pesticide-treated wood products, models developed to predict leaching rates, subsequent concentrations in sediments and water, and studies of pesticide-treated wood installations. Much more detail is available in the Stratus reports (2006a, 2006b) and their source documents.

Copper Treated Wood – ACZA and CCA

These two copper-based formulations are often used for in-water portions of structures. There are several other prominent formulations of wood treatments containing copper that may be used in over-water applications. These formulations were not examined in significant detail during the Stratus (2006a) literature review, but concerns about their use in over-water structures is considered with ACZA and CCA later in this document.

The leaching of copper from ACZA and CCA treated wood demonstrates a general trend of higher initial leaching rates that decrease rapidly within days. Within a few weeks to months, copper leaching decreases to very small levels; however, this is dependent upon pH, temperature and other variables. ACZA leaching rates in freshwater were very low within 10 days of installation (Brooks 1995b, NMFS 1998, Hutton and Samis 2000). The majority of leaching occurred from CCA pilings during the first 30-90 days after installation (Brooks 1995a, Weis *et al.* 1991, NMFS 1998, Hutton and Samis 2000, Kelty and Blevin 2003). ACZA leaches a greater total mass of copper in freshwater compared to CCA, but ACZA leaches for a shorter time.

The spreadsheet models reviewed by Stratus (2006a) are available for public use on-line at the WWPI website: www.WWPInstitute.org. Models for ACZA (ACZA.xls) and CCA (CCAPRISK.xls) were accessed on December 7, 2007 and results are presented in Table 1. The ACZA model gives both fresh and marine water outputs simultaneously. All other inputs in the model that produced Table 2 were left at their default settings.

Table 1. Leaching Rates (μ g/cm²/day) of a single 15 cm diameter piling, Freshwater salinity 0 ppt, Saltwater salinity 30 ppt

Time		Day 0	1	3	10	30	90
ACZA	Freshwater.	118.79	77.35	32.8	1.63	0.00	0.00
	Saltwater	32.55	10.68	1.15	0.00	0.00	0.00
CCA	Freshwater.	1.39	1.33	1.20	0.86	0.33	0.02
	Saltwater	2.86	2.72	2.47	1.77	0.68	0.04

Table 1 is intended only to illustrate the rapid decline in leaching rates. Project specific information (e.g. piling diameter, tidal velocities, water depth, etc.) can be entered into the on-line spreadsheets to generate more specific predictions of leaching rates.

Problematic exposure scenarios need to be evaluated along with leaching rates. Review of projects affecting juvenile salmonid habitat must consider if problematic concentrations of copper will leach into habitat when salmonids are present. In well

mixed areas, dilution is often sufficient to decrease the concentration of CCA or ACZA to inconsequential levels. In other circumstances, the project could be scheduled to allow leaching when salmonids are less likely to be present. The model presentation used in NMFS 1998 (Table 1 in that position paper - acknowledging uncertainties discussed later in this document), shows that installation in an area with a current velocity of 10 cm/sec or more, does not increase water column concentrations of copper more than 0.43 μ g/L for 100 or fewer pilings. This applies even in the smallest, most dense cross-sectional area evaluation. For reference, the lowest benchmark concentration calculated by NMFS (Hecht *et al.* 2007), at the 95% confidence interval, for impacts to salmonid olfactory performance was an increase of 0.79 μ g/L. NMFS (1998) shows increases of less than 0.79 μ g/L are predicted for other projects with greater numbers of piling at this current velocity. However, exceedances of this benchmark typically occur in only the densest installations. There are also multiple regression equations presented in the position document (NMFS 1998) that can be used to generate predictions of copper concentrations for individual projects of different sizes.

The majority of projects proposing to use pesticide-treated wood are smaller than the 100 piling size (at any installation density) which predicts potentially problematic water column concentrations at current velocities of 1 cm/sec or less. Because of the superior weight bearing properties of concrete and steel, most projects currently proposing to use pesticide-treated wood are small-scale (such as personal use docks and rural bridges). These projects typically have between two to five piling bents spaced at least four meters apart (Brooks 2003). Some of these projects use pesticide-treated wood mainly in the decking.

The Poston model utilized in NMFS (1998) and another spreadsheet based model developed by Brooks (1997b) were reviewed in Stratus (2006a). Although there is variability between the predictions of the leaching models and the observed leaching rates in laboratory studies. Stratus determined that there is little or no bias in leaching model under or overpredictions. The subsequent environmental models, which are used to predict water column concentrations and impacts to sediments, appear to capture the overall trends in leaching rates reasonably well. However, the review cautions that site specific conditions need to be known to provide useful predictions (Stratus 2006a). The remaining uncertainty can be addressed in a large-scale or regional guidance through other mechanisms (such as limiting the number of pilings that a project may install), without going through a more thorough analysis. NMFS (2004b) did this in the lower Columbia River and Oregon by essentially pre-approving projects that propose 50 or less copper treated pilings. This effectively serves as a margin of safety from the uncertainties in the 100 pile predictions. Other requirements, such as limiting the width of the structure, address other project related impacts. This level of pre-approvals still captures a large percentage of proposed projects, making it an efficient solution from both regulatory workload and species protection points of view.

NMFS (1998) also presented estimates of total sediment copper concentrations over a variety of project cross sectional areas and current velocities, based upon the Poston box model used by the USACE in their biological assessment (USACE 1996). This is

presented as Table 2 in the NMFS (1998) document. A background sediment copper concentration of 20 mg/kg was assumed in the model and this must be adjusted by substituting local background concentrations for the default value (if using the model predictions as a guide). Significantly elevated concentrations are predicted to occur near the pilings, but elevated levels further away from the pilings are negligible. This finding is similar to the Washington State White Paper (Poston 2001), which found that increases in sediment metal concentrations were limited to within 10 feet from small pesticidetreated wood structures in marine and freshwater habitats. Weis and Weis (1996) and Weis et al. (1998) measured increases of copper in sediments adjacent to bulkheads (<1m) constructed of CCA treated wood. Additionally, Weis and Weis (1994) examined a number of dock sites (rather than bulkheads) and found that these sites did not have increased metals in sediments adjacent to pilings or any consistent differences in benthic communities. The authors concluded that leachates from pilings in reasonably wellflushed areas do not have negative effects in the immediate vicinity. This is of importance because industry guidelines (WWPI 2006a) state that high surface area or high density uses of pesticide-treated wood products (such as bulkheads) should undergo site-specific assessments. Applicants can be requested to follow industry guidelines by generating necessary background information and monitoring, which is needed to make accurate effects determinations. Stratus (2006a) concluded that metals leaching from pesticide-treated wood structures resulted in only minor accumulation over a limited area (within several meters) in well mixed waters. The resulting accumulations have not been associated with significant biological effects, except in close proximity to the structures (usually bulkheads that also affect the biological community by increasing scour of fine sediments away from the structure due to reflected wave action).

Creosote Treated Wood

Leaching and deposition from creosote-treated wood products were also evaluated in the position paper (NMFS 1998). A number of creosote formulations were used in the past, which complicates the evaluation of leaching studies (Stratus 2006b). There are also fewer studies with modern creosote-treated products than copper-treated products, which results in additional uncertainty when making effects determinations for new projects. Like CCA and ACZA, the most rapid leaching of PAHs from creosote-treated products occurs initially (Sibley et al. 2004, Bestari et al. 1998b, Ingram et al. 1982); however, detectable leaching occurs for years and perhaps much longer (Stratus 2006b). The spreadsheet model available through WWPI, and reviewed by Stratus, uses an age input in years (rather than days). The USACE (1997) biological assessment recognized that leaching of PAHs occurs for years after the installation of pilings and referenced a study by Ingram et al. (1982) that determined rates for a 12 year-old pile (8.0 µg/cm²/day). NMFS (1998) recognized that the sediment PAH model used by the USACE did not account for resuspension, turbulence, lateral dispersion or biodegradation of PAH compounds over time and may overestimate the accumulation of PAHs in the sediment over the long-term.

Brooks *et al.* (2006) is the latest publication documenting the results of a long-term study conducted with Fisheries and Oceans Canada in the Sooke Basin, British Columbia, to address the longer term PAH leaching from creosote. The study included the

construction of three dolphins: each containing six pilings. The study included: untreated wood, non-BMP produced wood (that had been installed elsewhere for 8 years before being moved to this location) and BMP produced piling that was over-treated (27 pounds of product per cubic feet compared to the AWPA standard for marine use of 16-20 pounds of product per cubic foot). The Sooke Basin study site had slow currents (2.3) cm/sec at the surface and < 2 cm/sec at depth (~12 meters)), and low baseline sediment concentrations of PAH, making it a good location to conduct the study. During the first year, creosote accumulated in the sediments, within 7.5 meters of the BMP treated structures at concentrations of <7 to 10 mg/kg TPAH. By the end of the ten year study period (Brooks et al. 2006), elevated sediment levels were detected only within 2.5 m from the BMP pilings (5.2 mg/kg TPAH in the upper 3 cm of sediment and declining at 21 cm to 0.140 mg/kg TPAH). The creosote contamination at the 2.5 m distance was not uniform. The authors reported that the initial TPAH release did not seem to be toxic to the local infaunal community (Goyette and Brooks 1998). Toxicity was observed in laboratory tested samples on standard organisms, for sediments within 2 feet of the treated pilings (Goyette and Brooks 1998, 2001). Water column concentrations were not measured at this time

Exposure from Over-water Use of Pesticide-treated Wood Products

Significant quantities of pesticide-treated wood products are used in above-water structures and decking which warrant examination and sound management recommendations (WWPI 2006a). Pesticide-treated wood structures placed in or over flowing waters will leach copper and a variety of other toxic compounds directly into the stream (Weis and Weis 1996, Hingston *et al.* 2001, Poston 2001, NOAA 2003). These structures can be sources of copper to waterbodies from leaching during rain storms or washing, splashing, from abrasion caused by foot or vehicle traffic, or release of sawdust or other wastes during construction or maintenance procedures. Creosote-treated products can release PAHs from these same mechanisms and from exposure to the sun. Sunny, warm conditions cause creosote to be more mobile and "ooze" or blister out of the product. The droplets can then be released to the waterbody.

Exposures of this type are often sporadic and can occur for a longer period of time because the pesticides do not have a chance to be removed rapidly, except in areas of high precipitation. Weathering is based largely upon rain intensity and duration and is thought to mainly occur during the first year, especially in areas which experience regular rainfall (Brooks 1997b). Although overwater structures will release contaminants, the biologist must assess the situation to determine if the releases will result in adverse effects to NMFS trust resources. Similar to in-water structures of pesticide-treated wood, infrastructure where significant dilution will occur will have sporadic inputs of contaminants that are less likely to have impacts that are measureable, detectable or that can be meaningfully evaluated.

Studies conducted on bridges and boardwalks are useful for examining the potential contribution of contaminants from overwater structures. Two bridges constructed of

_

¹ Measured as TPAH

CCA treated wood were studied by Brooks (2000) in Florida. One was over freshwater and one in a marine environment. Both sites had some sediment copper contamination, though the levels were low and limited in space (approximately six feet downstream of each bridge). The marine bridge increased copper concentrations from 2.3 mg/kg (background) to 25.1 mg/kg directly below the bridge and the concentration dropped to 7.95 mg/kg at 1.5 feet downstream. Concentrations were at background levels 10 feet from the bridge. The freshwater bridge was two years old when studied. Background concentrations were 0.63 mg/kg in the sediments. They were to 2.1 mg/kg beneath the bridge and for three feet downstream, but were near background concentrations at 20 feet downstream of the bridge. Abundance and diversity of aquatic insects were measured and did not indicate impacts, while bioassays did not indicate toxicity.

A boardwalk study (FPL 2000) was conducted in Oregon on a 1,800 foot long boardwalk, constructed in a wetland area from three different copper treated products, to evaluate the product's environmental effects. The environment was slow moving freshwater, with fine grained sediments and heavy rainfall. The boardwalk was monitored for one year after construction. Copper accumulations from both CCA and ACZA formulations were found to vary temporally and spatially. The baseline levels of copper in the surface sediments varied from 17-24 mg/kg at the CCA treatment site. After two months the maximum copper concentration under the boardwalk was as high as 201 mg/kg, with a median concentration of 64 mg/kg. These levels increased further at 5.5 months, with a maximum detection of 219 mg/kg and a median level of 112 mg/kg. These levels decreased by the 11th month, with a maximum detection under the boardwalk of 115 mg/kg and a median concentration of 85 mg/kg. Copper levels were also elevated two feet from the boardwalk in the surface sediments, with a median concentration of 51 mg/kg. Copper levels in the surface sediments at the next monitoring point (five feet from the boardwalk) remained within background levels, although the data shows a gradual increase in low-level contamination moving away from the structure. This localized pattern of distribution indicates that the majority of leached copper was bound to suspended materials that settled into the sediments. Monitoring of leaching found that the greatest amount leached during initial rainfall. It must be noted that the CCA materials used in this trial were prestained. Experiments on the efficacy of coatings to minimize leaching from CCA-treated wood, found that one coat of latex primer, followed by one coat of oil-based paint or two coats of penetrating, water-repellent deck stain were both effective for reducing the leaching of copper, arsenic and chromium by more than 99% (FPL 2001a). Materials not treated in this manner may leach more copper.

At the ACZA site, baseline copper levels varied from 18-21 mg/kg in the surface sediments. Elevated levels of copper were observed as soon as 10 days after construction. At 2.5 months the median concentration under the boardwalk was 47 mg/kg, although there was a sample containing 569 mg/kg under the boardwalk, and others measuring 122 mg/kg and 226 mg/kg at one foot and five feet away from the boardwalk respectively. The distribution was more heterogeneous than the CCA treated wood site. Concentrations decreased at the six month sampling period, but increased again during the 11.5 month post construction sampling. This was likely due to a large rainfall event that flushed sediments away from the ACZA treated site. This indicates

that the dissolved copper, leaching from the boardwalk, was being absorbed and settling into the sediments. At 11.5 months, the mean copper concentrations were elevated above surface sediment levels, within one foot of the structure (95% confidence interval). Concentrations were slightly elevated within 5 feet of the structure, but not at this level of statistical significance. Like the CCA treated wood in this evaluation, initial leaching rates were highest during initial exposure to rainfall, although the mass of copper leached was correlated with total rainfall.

Invertebrate sampling was evaluated to detect potential adverse affects to these communities and habitat quality. Total species richness, sample abundance, dominant sample abundance, and Shannon's and Pielou's indices were calculated. These indices did not show a significant reduction in habitat quality, and no taxa were extirpated from the study area, despite the elevated concentrations near the boardwalk. Replicate samples were not taken, with the exception of artificial substrates that allowed for expeditious sampling. These artificial substrates excluded some taxa; therefore, the sampling design does not allow for a more thorough examination. Differences in abundance and diversity near and far from the boardwalk seem to occur in some datasets, but this could simply be due to natural variability. All of the indices were comparable to the control, within 10 feet of the boardwalk.

The author noted that the high rainfall and large volume of pesticide-treated wood used in construction of the boardwalk represented a severe leaching hazard. A project of this size would likely be considered as an example of a "substantial project having large treated wood surface area," as noted in WWPI (2006a). This would warrant an individual risk assessment and therefore, would generate the data for a more thorough examination. This determination may depend upon the proposed location and potential for direct exposure of salmonids. Affects may not be detectable or measurable in some locations or may be rather limited in area as illustrated by this study.

Exposure from Construction Debris

If pesticide-treated wood sawdust or shavings (generated during construction) are allowed to enter soil or water below a treated structure, they make a disproportionately large contribution to environmental contamination. Impacts from the leaching of construction debris immersed in water are vastly greater than from solid wood (FPL 2001b, Lebow and Tippie 2001, Lebow *et al.* 2004). Construction debris may release 30 to 100 times more preservative than typical submerged pieces, due to the increased surface area available for leaching. Collection of construction debris should be stressed. Storing pesticide-treated wood out of contact with standing water and wet soil, as well as protecting the wood from precipitation significantly reduces the likelihood of chemical leaching during construction (Lebow and Tippie 2001, FPL 2001b).

Linkage of Toxicity, Modeling, Field Studies and Expected Impacts

Copper-treated pilings leach relatively quickly, reaching low exposure levels in a matter of days to several weeks, depending mainly on formulation. For in water uses, the highest leaching occurs in the first few days. Within this time, the resulting water column concentrations may be high enough to affect salmonid olfaction ability (an

increase $\geq 0.79 \,\mu g/L \,dCu$), depending upon the size of the project and the available dilution. The biologist will need to determine the likelihood of salmonid early lifestage presence and potential exposure. Sediment contamination is a possibility, but was not noted at problematic levels from dock structures, compared to bulkhead structures. The models used by the NWR of NOAA Fisheries (NMFS 1998, adapted from USACE 1997) and the industry (Brooks 1997a and 1997b) can both over and under predict leaching rates, but do capture the trends. Although they can not be used for exact predictions, the models can provide useful site-specific predictions when used with site-specific information and when BMP produced wood is installed. Overall, the models consistently overestimate water column concentrations because of simplifying assumptions (such as all the piles being installed simultaneously) and the difficulty of accounting for mixing by turbulence (Stratus 2006a). The models should perform well enough for a site-specific or regional examination to determine if a project is likely to have adverse effects on NMFS trust resources because their conservative tendencies help to offset some of the uncertainties. Most projects, which are small enough to not require a more detailed sitespecific assessment, are likely small enough to not be a concern (i.e. 2-5 pilings spaced at least 4 meters apart (Brooks 2003), perhaps with some pesticide-treated wood decking).

Creosote-treated wood leaches significantly in freshwater, but has been banned from use in most freshwater areas by the West Coast states. It leaches detectable amounts of PAHs for years to decades in marine environments. The resulting sediment contamination is usually localized near the structure and diminishes over time. Elevated PAH levels in sediments have been implicated in causing tumor growth and reducing fecundity in bottom dwelling fish. Creosote-treated wood can cause these levels in sediment in some habitats over localized areas. There may be many sources of PAH in the environment, causing elevated background concentrations. Numerous waterbodies are listed as impaired, due to excessive levels of PAH. Additional contaminant loading is not advisable in these impaired waterbodies.

Water column concentrations of PAH from BMP creosote treated wood sources are not expected to cause detectable, acute effects under most exposure scenarios. Most vertebrates, including fish, can metabolize PAHs fairly efficiently. Several studies document impacts to herring eggs exposed to PAHs. The Vines *et al.* (2000) study is useful for establishing a LC₅₀ for herring hatching success following creosote-derived PAH exposure. Significant uncertainty regarding whether this level of impact will be reached in the field warrants a cautious approach in areas where herring spawn and potentially in areas where the egg and larval lifestages of other species may be similarly exposed. Creosote treated piling installations in the Los Angeles area have been required by the USACE to be wrapped for many years to reduce exposure to the environment (Castanon, David pers. Comm., 2004)

Precedent has been set to permit a predetermined number of pilings to be installed without triggering full ESA and EFH consultations (NMFS 2004b). This more site specific analysis should be done for local areas, in which these types of projects are being proposed. Overwater use is significant enough to warrant the use of BMPs (e.g. construction BMPs, use of BMP treated wood), but is not likely to result in problematic

concentrations except in the most sensitive environments. BMPs should be used to minimize unnecessary risk for both in-water and above-water utilizations.

Best Management Practices

The above sections show that the properly planned and executed use of pesticide-treated wood products is unlikely to cause detectable impacts to ESA listed salmonids, in many use scenarios; however, uncertainties remain in the underlying leaching experiments, field studies and modeling efforts (Stratus 2006a). Evaluation of in-service structures show that leaching rates vary by wood dimensions, wood species, treatment practices, fixation, age of the structure, type of exposure, construction and maintenance practices, and site-specific conditions (Lebow 1996, Lebow et al. 2004). The potential cumulative effect of these uncertainties has led numerous agencies (NMFS (1998, 2003, 2004), Fisheries and Oceans Canada (Hutton and Samis 2000), USDA (Lebow and Tippie 2001), Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife and Department of Ecology (Poston 2001), USACE (2006, Castanon, D., pers. comm. 2004)) and industry (WWPI 2006a, 2006b) to recommend BMPs to minimize avoidable and unnecessary risks to the environment. The following section on BMPs should be considered by the project proponent, the permitting agency (usually the USACE for NMFS purposes) and the reviewing agency (NMFS), and all warranted practices put into place for a project. Some districts of the USACE have standardized several of these BMPs resulting in an increased regulatory certainty for project proponents and more expedient review and approval processes.

Proper Material Selection – BMP Pesticide-treated wood

Perhaps the most important BMP is simply proper selection of pesticide-treated wood materials for a project. At the basic level, this means that the pesticide-treated wood product contains no more than the minimum level of pesticide necessary, as specified by the American Wood Preserver's Association retention standards Higher retention levels do not lead to extra durability. They only lead to increased leaching and subsequent impacts (Lebow and Tippie 2001).

The simplest way to ensure that the wood to be used has been properly treated is to require the project proponent to use products that have been BMP certified through a third party inspection process. The WWPI has set up such a procedure, so that products can be verified as being produced in compliance with production BMPs (WWPI 2006a). This means that they will be treated to proper retention standards and be processed to maximize fixation of the product. This would result in lower leaching rates (as used in the environmental exposure models). This is crucial to insuring that predicted levels of contamination are in fact those which are likely to occur. BMP pesticide-treated wood is denoted with a written certification from a company accredited by the American Lumber Standard Committee (in compliance with regulations of the U.S. Department of Commerce), or through the presence of a BMP mark as seen in the WWPI documents (2006a, 2006b). However, in the event that an improperly labeled material arrives at a job site, a visual inspection and rejection of materials (with visible residues or bleeding) requirement is still recommended.

Proper Material Selection – Environmental Conditions

Proper selection of pesticide-treated wood products is also based upon environmental conditions. Creosote-treated wood and copper-treated wood seem interchangeable in marine environments and selection of materials is often a matter of personal preference. Use of creosote-treated products is already restricted, or not recommended, in many freshwater environments in California, Oregon, Washington and Canada (Stratus 2006b, Hutton and Samis 2000). If a project proponent insists on using creosote-treated wood in spawning habitats of vulnerable species and lifestages (such as Pacific herring or pink salmon), or in a PAH impaired waterbody, then wrapping the pilings to form a physical barrier between the leachable material and the aquatic environment may be appropriate mitigation. This treatment is required by the Los Angeles District of the USACE (Castanon, David pers comm., 2004), to protect fish habitats. In areas without such restrictions, the condition of the sediments needs to be examined to determine if creosote could be used with minimal impact. Creosote-treated wood pilings should not be installed in anoxic sediments or areas with low dissolved oxygen concentrations, as the PAHs will degrade more slowly due to lack of oxygen and can accumulate to problematic levels. These are site-specific assessments where local knowledge is vital. In other less sensitive areas, it is important to remember that the long-term study of modern BMP creosote-treated wood in the field (Sooke Basin study), found limited contamination only in areas adjacent to the structures (Brooks et al. 2006, Goyette and Brooks 1998, 2001).

If pesticide-treated wood is used in overwater structures, BMP pesticide-treated wood can minimize effects to sensitive environments. For example, bridges or decks built over low- flow areas that support salmonids may need to be BMP treated to minimize leaching into a waterbody with minimal available dilution. This may be especially important if the structure will be cleaned during the low flow season. Cleaning and maintenance activities (such as aggressive scrubbing, power-washing, or sanding) can also remove particles of pesticide-treated wood and deposit them in soil or water beneath the structure (Lebow and Tippie 2001). Wooden bridges built without a wearing surface (so that vehicles ride directly on a pesticide-treated wood deck) may abrade because vehicle traffic wears away the preservative treatment over-time and exposes new surfaces of the wood to leaching (Brooks 2000, Ritter et al. 1996a and 1996b). Similarly, foot traffic will abrade pesticide-treated wood used in pedestrian bridges unless prevented by a wearing surface such as synthetic mats, coatings, metal sheets, or sacrificial plywood sheets (DeVenzio undated in NMFS 2004b, Lebow et al. 2003). Coatings will be discussed later in this document. Otherwise, products which leach the lowest amount of copper should be encouraged. In general, this seems to be CCA (Kennedy 2004, Stefanovic and Cooper 2004, Stratus 2006a), although the use of products with arsenic is now limited by EPA due to human health concerns in some applications.

Require Site Specific Assessments for all Larger Scale Projects

Table 1 in NMFS (1998) presents an adaption of information from the Poston box model, developed for the USACE biological assessment (USACE 1997) for the lower Columbia River. It was reviewed by Stratus (2006a) and determined to be useful in providing site-specific predictions where site-specific conditions are known. It can be used as a

screening tool to predict increases in dCu above background concentrations if current velocity, the cross-sectional area of the projects, pH and the number and size of pilings to be installed is known. For copper-treated products, water column increases of <0.79 $\mu g/L$ dCu were consistently predicted at current velocities of 1 cm/sec for projects with 24 or fewer pilings only at the smallest cross sectional area (i.e. cross sections $\leq 200~\text{m}^2$). This may show that the pesticide-treated wood impacts of many smaller projects (such as personal boat docks) do not generally cause problematic levels of copper in the water column. If current velocities are 10 cm/sec or greater, all modeled installations up to 100 pilings were acceptable showing the importance of dilution to determining a measurable or detectable level of impact. All installations of 100 pilings or less were found to not have problematic sediment impacts (i.e. <50% increase over the background concentration of 20 mg/kg copper) at current speeds of 1 cm/sec or greater.

A key assumption to the environmental exposure model (NMFS 1998) is that all pilings are installed simultaneously, which does not accurately reflect the logistics of construction. A project that uses 100 pilings will require several days to install, under the best of conditions. That means that the water column concentrations, projected by the model for the 100 piling scenario, are conservative and are likely to be lower in reality. Multiple regression equations, found on pages 10 and 11 of NMFS 1998, can be used for projects proposing between 24 and 100 pilings if the project is not in an area where a more thorough analysis has been conducted or programmatic consultation is in place. The SLOPES opinion (NMFS 2004b), covering the State of Oregon and lower Columbia River, is an example of this and effectively pre-approved projects installing 50 pilings or less (with some other restrictions). The WWPI (2006a) recommends conducting a site-specific assessment if more than 100 pilings are proposed for a project. This recommendation can be provided to the action agency and project proponent if more information is needed to determine the potential impacts of larger projects.

<u>Timing of Installation</u>

Restricting when an action can take place is a well established method of preventing or minimizing impacts to listed species and/or sensitive habitat components. The timing of use of an area by federally managed, or ESA listed species, should be determined. If a proposed project is of sufficient scope (that it may release contaminants at problematic levels), construction timing windows may be useful. In California, there are often time periods in larger rivers, bays and estuaries when salmonids are not present and other periods when only migrating adults are present. In the Northwest Region and Alaska, many of rivers and estuaries are used extensively by incubating and rearing juvenile salmonids; therefore, there may be nearly constant juvenile emigration. Timing restrictions (sometimes called work windows), may already be in place for other activities (e.g. dredging), or for related impacts (e.g. pile driving, turbidity).

Construction BMPs

As noted previously, elevated contaminant releases from pesticide-treated wood materials can occur during the construction process. This is due to the high surface areas of debris (such as sawdust) and the exposure of the inner portions of the wood where the chemicals may not be as strongly fixed initially. The use of construction BMPs reduces

unnecessary risks to aquatic habitats and is recommended by numerous agencies (NMFS (2004, 2003), Fisheries and Oceans Canada (Hutton and Samis 2000), USDA (Lebow et al 2000, Lebow and Tippie 2001)), industry (WWPI 2006a, 2006b) and subject reviews (Poston 2001, Stratus 2006a). These documents call for minimizing unnecessary risks by reducing the potential for construction debris to enter waterways.

Construction BMPs begin with proper storage of materials onsite. The materials should be stored in an area that does not freely drain to the waterbody, free from standing water or wet soil, and protected from precipitation (Lebow and Tippie 2001, NMFS 2004b). If necessary, materials should be stored on skids or support timbers to keep them off the ground. Although the wood should be BMP certified in many proposed applications, it should still be inspected on site and any pieces found to have visible residues or bleeding of preservative should be rejected. If ammoniacal treated wood has a noticeable odor, then it has not been properly processed or aged and the preservative may not be properly fixed. The wood should be rejected and the failure of the BMP certification process reported.

Maximum prefabrication should be done before the structure is placed over-water. This minimizes cutting and boring discharges of debris into the waterway. If prefabrication is done on-site, construction debris must be salvaged and disposed of properly. Cutting stations can be set up with a large tarp to capture debris. The cutting station should be kept well away from the water to minimize transport of sawdust by wind. Applications of field preservative treatments to cuts and bore holes, water repellants or other coatings, if not applied by the manufacturer at their facility, should take place at the cutting station before the wood is taken to the overwater area. These applications must be allowed to dry and/or cure.

If minimal cutting, boring or touch-up preservative applications must be performed over water, then tarps, plastic tubs or similar devices should be used to capture debris, spills or drips. Vacuums may also be used during construction to capture debris. Any excess field preservative should be wiped off and not applied in the rain. Any debris which falls into the water should be promptly removed. Debris should be stored in a dry place until it is removed from the project site. Lebow and Tippie (2001) contains useful pictures of construction BMPs.

Demolition BMPs

BMPs for demolition of pesticide-treated wood structures are very similar to construction BMPs. Both are meant to minimize unnecessary exposure of the aquatic environment to debris. It is recommended that minimal cutting and boring should take place over the water. Tarps, tubs and/or vacuums should be used to capture the debris. Any debris that falls into the water should be promptly removed. Additionally, wood should be stored in a dry place where the debris will not be swept away by any rising waters.

If pilings are removed, disturbance of sediments should be minimized to prevent the spread of any contamination. Sediments adjacent to the project should be analyzed to determine if they warrant removal or clean capping. Problematic sediment contamination

is not necessarily from pesticide-treated wood in the infrastructure being removed, but may result from historic use at the facility (i.e. discharges from boats or industry at the site). The piles should be pulled, if possible. If pulling is not possible, the pilings should be cut at or below the sediment line and capped as warranted. Dispose of the used pilings properly with all other debris in a manner that does not expose or affect aquatic resources. Since older creosote treated wood materials were likely not produced in accordance with industry BMPs (i.e. they were likely treated to the point of refusal), they should not be reused in aquatic environments. Local requirements for disposal may vary but need to be followed.

<u>In-water Coatings and Wraps</u>

Another method to minimize unnecessary environmental risk is coating the pesticide-treated wood products with impervious materials to minimize the loss of metals or PAHs to the environment (Stillwell and Mustane 2004). Coatings or wraps should be used in projects proposed for sensitive locations, or areas with limited currents and/or high background concentrations (NMFS 2003, Hutton and Samis 2000). Examples of sensitive locations include areas with vulnerable species. These species include: Pacific herring, which may spawn onto the creosote treated wood, or pink salmon, which spawn in areas that may have maritime development (i.e. they spawn within a few miles of the coast or even within the intertidal zone). Additionally, areas determined to be important EFH for juvenile rearing should be examined carefully and coatings considered to prevent contamination especially if background levels are significantly elevated. Coatings and wraps may also be useful for piling replacement projects when a facility desires to replace a few pesticide-treated wood pilings that have been damaged, but the scale is small enough that the entire facility does not need replacement. Wraps may also be used as mitigation, to minimize impacts from existing creosote treated facilities.

There are numerous coating materials available commercially that encapsulate wood and prevent leaching of contaminants. A full review of coatings is beyond the scope of this document. The important considerations for the local biologist to consider are that the coating be inert, impervious and long lasting. The requirements are typically written for "an impact-resistant, biologically inert coating that lasts or is maintained" for a specified amount of time. Construction materials can be ordered that arrive on-site already encapsulated, or polymers may be applied by the company with the construction contract. Once dried, many coatings used in marine applications allow the piles to be driven (like an uncoated pesticide-treated wood piling). An internet search will reveal several types of products and purveyors. These types of coatings have been successfully used on projects with pesticide-treated wood pilings in San Francisco Bay since 2005 (David Woodbury, pers. comm., 2007) and in New Jersey to protect shellfish beds since that late 1990s (Stanley Gorski, pers. com., 2008). Similarly, the USACE Los Angeles District requires that creosote treated pilings used in the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach be wrapped to minimize the leaching of PAHs (Castanon, D. pers. Comm., 2004). Wrappings are installed and then sealed (traditionally to prevent the flux of oxygen into the wood), killing marine borers, which are already present. High density polyurethane wear strips can be used to protect the wrapped piling from damage from scraping by vessels or other objects. In California, if a project proposes to treat both in-water and

above-water portions with a coating product, then it falls under the local area programmatic ESA and EFH consultation (USACE 2006) and does not require further examination by NOAA Fisheries (NMFS 2007).

Over-water Coatings

Exposed wood, used in overwater applications (such as decking) should be protected from the weather and an application of water repellent sealer is recommended by industry (WWPI 2003) and agencies (NMFS 2004b, 2003, Lebow and Tippie 2001, USDA FPL 2001). Application of finishes, such as semi-transparent penetrating stains, latex paint, or oil-based paint, decrease environmental releases (FPL 2001a and 2001b, Lebow et al. 2004). In general, opaque polyurethane and acrylic finishes form the most durable coatings, probably because they protect wood from ultraviolet radiation, although for some surfaces (such as those subjected to foot traffic) use of a penetrating stain that results in a slow wearing of the coating may be preferable (Stilwell and Musante 2004). Experiments on the efficacy of coatings to minimize leaching from CCA-treated wood, found that one coat of latex primer, followed by one coat of oil-based paint or two coats of penetrating, water-repellent deck stain were both effective for reducing the leaching of copper, arsenic and chromium by more than 99% (FPL 2001a). Coatings and any painton field treatment must be carefully applied and contained to reduce contamination (Lebow and Tippie 2001, FPL 2001b). Coatings which are likely to blister and peel or require sanding and scraping (such as varnish) should not be used for these applications. Leaching will still take place (although at a highly reduced rate) and will increase as the coating degrades. However, the rate of leaching will be greatly reduced over-time, leading to lower levels of exposure. The biologist will have to determine if the waterbody into which the contaminants are leached is sensitive enough to require that a water-proof seal or barrier must be maintained for the life of the project.

It is recommended that good construction practices, as noted elsewhere in this document, are followed with the maximum amount of construction (including coating) taking place away from any waterbodies. Lebow and Tippie (2001) of the U.S. Forest Service noted that several manufacturers of CCA and the manufacturer of another copper-treated product (known as ACQ-D) offer formulations which incorporate a water repellent into the treating solution.

Alternate Materials

Using a material other than pesticide-treated wood is another potential BMP and would eliminate the impacts of the pesticide-treated wood. Using alternative materials; however, does not eliminate the more general impacts of a structure. General structure impacts could include: shading aquatic vegetation, providing ambush cover for predatory fish and perches for piscivorous birds, introduction of pollutants from the supported vessels or industries (e.g. copper from boat hulls, PAHs from gasoline, oils and grease, turbidity from prop wash, sewage and other wastes from the vessels, industries and associated parking lots). Additional impacts from the structure may include: altering flow patterns around the vicinity of the project, changing the character of the project area (by introducing hard substrate that may be colonized by organisms not typically present) and construction impacts (such as dredging and pile driving) (NOAA 2005).

Stratus (2006a) examined several potential alternate materials. The materials have advantages and disadvantages, which are detailed in that document (Stratus 2006a). Some have their own pollutant concerns (such as leaching of potential endocrine disrupting chemicals from plastic based materials or zinc from cathode protected steel) (Xie *et al.*, 2002, Weis *et al.* 1992). However, many of the dilution based arguments and assessments hold true for these materials as well. Other alternative materials may be considered nonleaching because they are made of, or coated with, nonreactive materials, but there is often a lack of data to evaluate these claims. It may be possible to use alternative materials in many of the same situations as pesticide-treated wood materials, but their prescription may not be necessary depending upon the level of impacts expected by the biologist.

Cost is often an argument brought forward in support of using pesticide-treated wood as a building material and it must be addressed here. Stratus (2006a) contains a cost comparison between pesticide-treated wood, concrete, steel and plastic pilings, which was generated by a marine construction firm under a subcontract to Stratus. The analysis concluded that concrete pilings are very cost competitive with pesticide-treated wood on an equivalent annual cost basis over the life of the project. Steel was more expensive when the analysis was conducted in 2005 and has continued to rise in price since that time. Although it is used in large projects, it may not be considered a minor change in many smaller scale projects. Plastic piling materials also had higher costs at the time of the analysis and some products may not be appropriate for some weight bearing uses. There are an expanding number of choices and capabilities in alternate materials which have improved weight bearing capacity including reinforced plastics, fusions of glass and wood and wood species which are not treated with pesticides.

Stratus (2006a) did find that concrete has a higher up-front cost (i.e. cost per pile) than pesticide-treated wood at a ratio of 2.5 to 1. However, larger scale projects that utilize concrete typically require fewer pilings. This could be attributed to the superior weight bearing properties of concrete. Some projects may be small enough that the difference in the number of pilings is inconsequential. EPA's 2008 assessment work for creosote and CCA wood preservatives includes two qualitative economic impact assessments (EPA 2008d, 2008e). However these documents do not include independent analysis of project costs using these pesticide-treated wood products compared to alternative materials. Instead, they only briefly mention one industry sponsored study (Smith 2003 in EPA 2008d, 2008e) which determined that using concrete or steel pilings was 1.96 times more expensive than using treated wood. This ratio is close to that presented by Stratus, but it can not be determined from EPA (2008d, 2008e) what factors the study considered. EPA (2008d) notes that CCA products are slightly less expensive than creosote and that creosote only accounts for 4% of the pilings market. Two case studies from the WWPI (WWPI 1998, undated) discuss two projects which also found the upfront costs of concrete piling projects to be between 2 and 2.5 times more expensive than treated wood project. These case studies do not present data examining the annual cost basis of the projects over their expected lifetimes.

The installation cost was also determined to be an important factor (Stratus 2006a). Costs may be competitive in an area with multiple pile driving companies, resulting in available equipment that can handle both pesticide-treated wood and concrete piling installations. On the other hand, areas without equipment readily available to handle the higher weight concrete pilings may see significant increases to the cost of a concrete piling project. Concrete was predicted to last longer than pesticide-treated wood (20 years compared to 15 years) by Stratus (2006a), leading to the lower cost over-time. However, these lifetime projections seem short for both products and a difference of five years may make the long term advantage less important to many smaller projects.

Miscellaneous BMPS

There are several other BMPs that can be beneficial in areas where the use of pesticide-treated wood products may affect a listed species or adversely impact EFH.

- Incorporate design features, which minimize abrasion of pesticide-treated wood pilings and decking. High density polyethylene wear strips can be installed on the pilings to prevent scraping by the floating docks, vessels, etc. Brooks (2004a) recommends strips that are one half-inch thick, installed down the length of the piling. As the pilings are abraded, new wood with higher leaching rates are exposed, which leads to continual unnecessary exposure to the environment. In addition to water repellent coatings (discussed earlier), decking can be protected through the use of wear guards.
- Use untreated wood for temporary structures or naturally rot resistant wood (e.g. some cedar species) for the project.
- Use top caps on creosote treated piles to minimize their exposure to the sun and subsequent losses of creosote. This should be required for all creosote treated pilings regardless of projected impact.
- Shading would also greatly reduce the amount of creosote discharged by a structure. Covering a dock will minimize the exposure of all wood products to precipitation and slow down any resultant leaching. If the project is proposed in an area with submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV), the biologist evaluating the project must take into consideration the potential impacts of shading the SAV that could result from using this BMP.
- Eliminate the use of pilings by using anchors for floating dock structures.

Mitigation for Remaining Impacts

Mitigation can be required, under the Magnuson-Stevens Act, for remaining impacts to EFH that can not be eliminated from a project. Mitigation may also be proposed by the project applicant as a means of reducing the uncertainty in their impact analysis, in order to facilitate the permitting process. There are a few pesticide-treated wood related mitigation options that can be considered to offset the effects of installing new pesticide-treated wood. The first is removal of old pesticide-treated wood. This can be done by removing an abandoned or unnecessary structure, or by removing pesticide-treated wood that has washed downstream as a result of flooding. NMFS (2003) contains pictures of depositional areas showing how large the old pesticide-treated wood problem can be in some locations. Another pesticide-treated wood related mitigation could involve

wrapping the already installed crossote-treated pilings in the vicinity of a project. This option is limited to crossote-treated wood. Copper-treated pilings are expected to have lost the majority of leachable copper if they have been in place for any significant period of time. Crossote-treated products, on the other hand, are expected to leach significant amounts of PAHs for years or decades, as seen in USACE (1997) and in the input parameters of the crossote leaching models. Benefits at a localized scale may be possible if a project proponent proposes to wrap pilings in the vicinity of the project, as mitigation for the unavoidable affects of the project.

Potential Exposure Scenarios

Now that the basics of pesticide-treated wood use and potential impacts have been presented, this section will present some examples of typical projects and environmental combinations that a NOAA Fisheries biologist may be asked to evaluate. Given the wide range of habitat conditions and specific life history variables that may be encountered across the Western United States, suggestions contained in this section must be coupled with site-specific information in order to make an informed decision.

Personal Use Boat Docks

A common proposed use of pesticide-treated wood is for the construction of smaller boat dock facilities. These facilities usually are constructed on waterbodies of sufficient size to provide for significant dilution potential, but it is likely that cumulative effects will need to be considered, as there are often numerous docks in these areas. Therefore, primary factors to be considered include background concentrations and stream or tidal currents. Research by Weis and Weis (1994) noted that contaminant levels in sediments associated with dock pilings, in moderately flushed areas, did not show accumulation of metals in contrast to higher surface area uses such as bulkheads. Therefore, if a personal use boat dock project can show that background levels of copper are not problematic and that densities of marine related infrastructure utilizing (or potentially utilizing) pesticide-treated wood are lower, then an individual risk assessment is not likely to be necessary. This scenario of approving smaller scale projects has already been put into place by the SLOPES III opinion (NMFS 2004b) in the lower Columbia River and the state of Oregon.

If a pesticide-treated wood bulkhead is proposed as part of the dock project, then the project may require an individual risk assessment, as recommended by industry (WWPI 2006a). In this event, there are numerous options available to the project proponent to reduce leaching. These options could include: coating the pesticide-treated wood product (just the bulkhead portion, or the whole thing), constructing the bulkhead with rock or another alternate material, or protecting the natural shoreline with vegetation or large woody debris rather than constructing the bulkhead. This could potentially eliminate the need for a site specific assessment, or in depth data gathering related to the use of pesticide-treated wood. The other potential impacts of water facilities mentioned earlier (e.g. shading of aquatic vegetation, dredging, introduction of habitats used by predatory species in the shoreline area, etc) will still need to be considered.

Marinas

Like the personal use boat dock, the construction of a marina will presumably occur on a larger waterbody. However, marinas are typically protected from currents and tidal exchange and this may result in significantly reduced dilution potential. New facilities, or facilities undergoing major renovations, are more likely to trigger some of the industry recommendations for an individual risk assessment. Examples of these projects include: installation of more than 100 pilings, construction at potentially problematic densities, or proposing a large amount of pesticide-treated wood surface area. The consulting biologist should make the project proponent aware of industry guidelines as a tool for procuring a proper effects analysis if necessary. Building or renovating marinas to "clean marina" standards is also recommended (e.g. restricting hull scraping in water, stormwater BMPs for shoreline facilities such as repair yards and parking lots, installation and mandatory use of sewage pump out stations, etc.).

Vehicle Bridges

Studies related to bridges and other overwater structures were presented earlier. The main concerns for bridges are the size and flushing rates of the waterbodies beneath the bridges, as well as the size of the bridge. The data presented earlier indicates that bridges of pesticide-treated wood are typically small enough that the footings of the bridge are not located in the water and may not even be in the 100 year floodplain. Therefore, pesticide-treated wood will only be used above the water. For a waterbody with sufficient dilution, the studies indicate that this should not be problematic and the potential impacts to salmonids are not likely to be meaningfully measured, detected or evaluated. However, extra caution may be warranted if bridge construction is proposed over a low flow stream, where significant dilution is not a given, or over a pool in a stream that supports rearing salmonids and is often disconnected during dry portions of the year. BMPs to minimize leaching (such as coatings, shading and maintenance requirements) and that minimize potential exposure, may be necessary to prevent impacting salmonids and degrading habitat.

Foot Bridges/Boardwalks

The potential impacts here are similar to the larger bridges, although some of these structures (such as long boardwalks) are more likely to use pesticide-treated wood footings that may be in the water. The main concern is for streams with periods of very limited flow, or loss of flow connectivity between pools, which lead to unacceptable exposure levels. For smaller facilities in this situation, the biologist will need to determine if coating the overwater lumber would sufficiently decrease any remaining uncertainty, or if the environment is so sensitive that an alternative decking material, such as a coated catwalk, naturally rot-resistant species of wood or plastic lumber, should be considered.

Larger facilities, such as the boardwalk examined in the Wildwood study (FPL 2000), are likely to require the generation of additional information as part of their planning process. Although the study was conducted in a sensitive environment and looked at an important potential indirect effect to salmonids (reduced prey availability), the study did not evaluate potential direct effects to salmonid olfaction. Providing technical assistance to

the project proponent in earlier stages of project planning may eliminate the need for an extensive individual risk assessment in such a project.

Railroads

The vast majority of creosote treated wood (approximately 70% of all creosote use) is used in railroad construction and maintenance (EPA 2003). It is common for railroads to follow the contours of large streams and rivers in the western United States. This leads to the potential exposure of salmonid habitats from the creosote treated wood leachate. However, railroads constructed within a floodplain are typically built to minimize their chance of interacting with the water (i.e. flooding). The most likely interaction between the waterbody and railroad occurs when significant dilution is available. The most likely sources of PAHs from railroads come from normal operations (e.g. exhaust from the engines, oils and greases, herbicides used along the tracks) and from coal dust. Coal is a common cargo on many lines serving mines or coal-fired power plants.

Brooks (2004a) conducted a peer reviewed study focused on the migration of creosote from railway ties. The study showed initial leaching of creosote from new railway ties into the ballast (the rock and dirt platform upon which the tracks are laid) to approximately 60 cm in depth. This mostly occurred during the first summer after installation. There was little movement horizontally toward a constructed wetland. Following the first summer, PAH concentrations in the ballast declined (due to degradation) to background levels (at depths more than 10 cm).

PAH concentrations within the constructed wetlands' sediments were similar across treatments (new, weathered and untreated ties), indicating that atmospheric deposition of PAHs was having a large effect on the sampling results. Brooks (2004b) indicates that a small amount of PAH may have migrated into one wetland cell during the second summer of the study, as indicated by an increase in PAH of approximately 0.3 mg/kg in the sediment. In comparison, the ER-L for total PAHs is 4.0 mg/kg, making an effect from this exposure unlikely. Surface water in the wetland cells was sampled at various intervals (10 days, 2, 3, 12, and 15 months) and all samples had non-detectable concentrations until one positive sample at the 15 month stage. This sample from a new tie mesocosm contained 0.19 μ g/L of benzo(a)anthracene and 0.66 μ g/L of phenanthrene while a sample from an untreated tie mesocosm contained 0.16 μ g/L of benzo(a)anthracene that day. These levels were not expected to be problematic as determined by the Σ TPAH methodology presented in NMFS (1998).

Brooks (2004b) does make some railroad related recommendations in order to reduce unnecessary exposure and risk to aquatic environments from railroad infrastructure. Brooks observed that numerous derelict railway crossties were discarded in the right-of-way and recommended that ties taken out of service should be disposed of properly. Due to the initial leaching observed in the study, Brooks recommended that the storage of newly treated railway ties in sensitive environments should be avoided, and the storage should occur on the ballast or on railway cars. Additionally, Brooks recommended that railway ties should be produced using management practices which minimize deep checking in the wood and excess surface deposits.

Highway Related Uses and Utility Poles

There are uses of pesticide-treated wood products in highways and roads (such as for sign posts), in addition to bridges. Utility poles are another major use of creosote-treated products, making up some 15-20% of all creosote usage (EPA 2003). These pesticide-treated wood products may be placed within the riparian area. However, like the railroads, waterways are not likely to significantly interact with these categories of pesticide-treated wood, except during flood situations. The pesticide-treated wood products may leach some contaminants when exposed to rain, or through exposure to the sun for creosote products. However, unless these products are placed over-water, or leach onto a roadway when it is raining, the leachates will likely become bound to the sediments. Contributions of copper or PAHs from these sources may not be detectable compared to the contributions coming from the road itself (e.g. oils, grease and exhaust from vehicles, copper from brake pads, spills of hazardous materials, etc.).

Conclusion

It is widely acknowledged that creosote and copper-treated wood products leach contaminants into the aquatic environment. The rate of leaching for both categories of products drops off rapidly following installation. For copper-treated products, the leaching, and resultant water column concentrations, drops off to very low levels within a few weeks to a few months, depending upon the exact product and environmental conditions. Effect level thresholds may only be exceeded for short periods of time. Copper can accumulate in sediments, where its bioavailability depends upon site-specific conditions. While the initial rate of leaching from creosote-treated pilings drops off rapidly, leaching stays elevated at easily detectable levels for many years and perhaps decades. The exact length of time this occurs is difficult to determine because the product loading and formulation of creosote utilized in the past was variable. PAHs from creosote also accumulate in sediments, where they are subject to degradation. However, the high molecular weight fraction can take a long time to degrade and contains known mutagens, teratogens, and carcinogens, which are most often associated with impacts to benthic species (e.g. tumors).

The main contaminants of concern from these products are copper and PAHs. For copper, the most sensitive sublethal endpoint may be salmonid olfaction. This may be impacted by an increase in dissolved copper concentrations as low as 0.79 µg/L above background levels. Copper may also affect salmon and EFH by reducing the quality and productivity of the benthic habitat. However, the models and studies related to copper treated wood products show the impacts are localized and only prevalent with large surface area uses (such as bulkheads) in many cases. For creosote, the main impact of concern is accumulation in the sediments. This could lead, or contribute to, elevated levels that affect the productivity of EFH, especially for groundfish species. Sediment accumulation impacts are also expected to occur on a localized scale. The impacts may occur for a longer period of time and at lower pesticide-treated wood densities than the potential impacts of copper-treated products. Water column concentrations of PAHs from creosote-treated wood are not expected to reach problematic levels, except in situations of very high density installations, or in freshwater applications. Impacts have

been observed only at the most contaminated PAH sites (Eisler 2000). However, creosote-treated pilings also have the potential to impact sensitive species, which lay their eggs on the pilings (e.g. Pacific herring (Vines *et al.* 2000). Impacts could also occur in the immediate vicinity of pilings, where the PAHs accumulate in the sediments (e.g. pink salmon in Heintz *et al.* 1999). High density and/or high volume pesticide-treated wood use projects are not likely to be proposed often, due to changing patterns in pesticide-treated wood use (Brooks 2003). These types of projects are highly likely to trigger full risk assessments, and formal consultations, as recommended by industry (WWPI 2006a).

Numerous leaching studies have been conducted over the years to determine leaching rates from a variety of pesticide-treated wood formulations and for a variety of environmental conditions. The results of many of these studies were used to develop leaching models. The review of the leaching models by Stratus (2006a) found that they did an acceptable job of capturing the leaching trends and did not seem to consistently generate over or under predictions. These leaching models have been adapted into environmental prediction models, which incorporate a variety of factors (such as flow rates) to predict resultant water column concentrations and areas of sediment contamination. These models can not be relied upon to produce dependable predictions without site-specific information. However, the models seem to be useful for risk assessments, when site-specific information is available. This is due to some conservative assumptions of the models (e.g. all piles are installed simultaneously, all contaminants are considered dissolved in the water column and remain bioavailable, no dilution through turbulence of lateral dispersion, etc.(NMFS 1998))(Stratus 2006a).

The most important factor in the models' predictions is the current velocity. If significant water exchange is available to dilute the leached contaminants, then they are not predicted to increase contamination to a problematic level. Background concentrations of the contaminants are also an important consideration along with pH and project specific information (such as the number of pilings and density when installed). Especially sensitive sites are defined by species utilization (e.g. critical rearing area, entrance to a tributary), as well as environmental conditions (e.g. sediment characteristics). These sites may require special management consideration, regardless of the construction material chosen for the project.

The Poston box model, adapted by NMFS (1998), has been in use for a decade. It shows that installation of 100 or less copper-treated piles, at current velocities of 10 cm/sec or more, are not likely to result in problematic water column concentrations. However, impacts are possible with 100 piles at lower current velocities. Increases in sediment concentrations of 50% or more were not anticipated with a project of this size. 100 copper-treated pilings is also the threshold recommended by industry (WWPI 2006a) to trigger a site-specific risk assessment.

Installation of creosote-treated pilings is uncommon in the NWR and SWR of NOAA Fisheries, but is more common in the Alaska Region. Background PAH concentrations in the water column are not generally found at problematic levels with the exception of the most contaminated areas. However, NMFS (1998) predicts problematic

concentrations from the installation of 100 or more creosote pilings, at most modeled installation densities, with the exception of locations with current velocities of 10 cm/sec or greater. NMFS (1998) did not present a box model for sediment contamination by PAHs because the work conducted by the USACE (1997) did not model a long-enough time span. Despite this, the effects on sediments must be considered and may affect EFH, especially for Pacific groundfish. Observed contamination at the Sooke Basin study site decreased over-time and was mostly confined to close proximity of the structures, but did result in potential effect levels in the sediments. Background concentrations need to be considered and installation of creosote in areas with elevated backgrounds should be discouraged.

Overwater uses of pesticide-treated wood products can also contribute contaminants into the aquatic environment and may be used at a high enough volume to warrant examination in a project. Copper-treated products are expected to leach most of their contamination during the first year as a result of rainfall. Creosote-treated wood will also leach in this manner, but may be expected to discharge PAHs for a longer period of time. Exposure to direct sunlight may result in the discharge of contaminants, even during the dry season, from creosote-treated products. Both categories of products may contribute additional contaminants through wear of their exposed surfaces.

BMPs are recommended as a way to reduce risk to ESA listed species and EFH. An underlying assumption in most of the leaching studies and models is that pesticide-treated wood products installed in aquatic environments will be manufactured in accordance with industry production BMPs. BMP produced wood should be used in all situations involving potential exposure to ESA listed species or EFH and is already recommended or required by several other state or Federal agencies. Conducting site-specific risk assessments, for larger projects proposing to use pesticide-treated wood, is also recommended. Industry and NMFS guidelines for copper-treated products both focus around the 100 piling size. NMFS (1998) indicates this size would be acceptable at current velocities of 10 cm/sec or greater, but can not be assumed to be protective at lower current velocities without utilizing the multiple regression equations for initial screening. Site-specific considerations on the lower Columbia River have lead to a lower threshold there (50 pilings) and many projects which typically use pesticide-treated wood (e.g. personal use boat docks) are routinely approved through this process. Potentially lower thresholds are recommended by industry in their guidance (WWPI 2006a) for some products and situations. For example, a project proposing to use 25 or more ACZA pilings parallel to the currents is recommended for a risk assessment by WWPI (2006a). The WWPI has spreadsheet based models available for use by the public (through their website) and the models were also reviewed by Stratus and found to be acceptable with the same caveats as the models used in the NMFS 1998 document.

Other BMPs, which should be routinely required, include: construction and demolition BMPs, minimization of abrasion on pilings (through the use of wear strips), use of untreated wood for temporary structures, top caps for all creosote treated pilings and proper disposal that eliminates risk to aquatic environments (while following local disposal requirements). Restricting the timing of the installation may be advisable in

some locations and a simple way to eliminate potential impacts to ESA listed species. The use of coatings or wraps for pesticide-treated wood products is an acceptable method for minimizing impacts and uncertainty associated with larger-scale projects, or in especially sensitive environments. This is a necessary practice for using pesticide-treated wood products in the Southeastern U.S., because of the presence of marine borers (gribbles – *Limnoria*), which are not wholly deterred by many wood treatments. Coatings and wrappings are often used along the West Coast as well, and can even be used on the overwater portions of projects that may cause problematic levels of contamination in the aquatic environment. Exposed wood is already recommended by industry and agencies to receive an application of water repellent sealer and to be protected from the weather. The use of alternate materials can eliminate the potential impacts of pesticide-treated wood products, but can contribute some contaminants of their own. Recommending or requiring alternative materials is warranted in those situations where adverse effects can be meaningfully measured, detected or evaluated. Other BMPs may be sufficient to minimize the effects of the project making this requirement unnecessary. Mitigation options for any remaining impacts from the project should be analyzed and may be presented as EFH or ESA conservation recommendations.

Overall, the use of pesticide-treated wood products in aquatic environments with the examined formulations (ACZA, CCA and creosote) could be acceptable in many proposed projects. However, the products can not be considered categorically safe, and therefore, require project and site-specific assessment. Many projects, that still propose to use pesticide-treated wood, may pass a screening level examination and require relatively little assessment for the pesticide-treated wood related impacts. These determinations require a level of local knowledge that may be applied on a case-by-case basis, or through regional or watershed based procedures. The variability between locations makes it difficult to provide guidance on the scale of the entire west coast of the U.S. and Alaska.

The selection of copper-treated or creosote-treated products seems to be a personal preference in areas where creosote is still permitted for use. Copper-treated products are a better choice, in many instances, for minimizing impacts to NOAA Trust Resources. This is due to the rapidly diminishing level of impact and the higher sediment contamination levels needed before impacts begin to be observed. However, the limited available information shows that, in some specific instances, the proper use of creosote-treated products may not impact ESA listed salmonids in a manner that can be meaningfully measured, detected or evaluated. However, the choice of a creosote-treated product over a copper-treated product may be considered to have a greater adverse affect to the quantity or quality of EFH, especially if the product is proposed for an area which supports vulnerable species or valuable benthic habitat.

Bibliography

Cited References

Baldwin, D.H., J.F. Sandahl, J.S. Labenia and N.L. Scholz. 2003. Sublethal Effects of Copper on Coho Salmon: Impacts on Nonoverlapping Receptor Pathways in the Peripheral Olfactory Nervous System. *Env. Tox. and Chem.* 22:2266-2274.

Barron, M.G., R. Heintz, and S.D. Rice. 2004. Relative Potency of PAHs and Heterocycles as Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptors Agonists in Fish. *Marine Environmental Research* 58:95-100.

Barron, M.G., M.G. Carls, R. Heintz, and S.D. Rice. 2003. Evaluation of Fish Early Life-Stage Toxicity Models of Chronic Embryonic Exposures to Complex Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Mixtures. *Toxicological Sciences* 78(1):60-67.

Bestari, K.T. J., R.D. Robinson, K.R. Solomon, T.S. Steele, K.E. Day and P.K. Sibley. 1998a. Distribution and Composition of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons within Experimental Microcosms Treated with Liquid Creosote. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 17:2359-2368.

Bestari, K.T. J., R.D. Robinson, K.R. Solomon, T.S. Steele, K.E. Day and P.K. Sibley. 1998b. Distribution and Composition of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons within Experimental Microcosms Treated with Creosote-Impregnated Douglas Fir Pilings. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 17:2369-2377.

Billiard, S.M., M.E. Hahn, D.G. Franks, R.E. Peterson, N.C. Bols, and P.V. Hodson. 2002. Cinding of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) to Teleost Arylhydrocarbon receptors (AHRs). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* B.133:55-68

Billiard, S.M., K. Querbach, and P.V. Hodson. 1999. Toxicity of Retene to Early Life Stages of Two Freshwater Fish Species. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 18:2070-2077.

Brinkworth, L.C., P.V. Hodson, S. Tabash and P. Lee. 2003. CYP1A induction and Blue Sac Disease in Early Developmental Stages of Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) Exposed to Retene. *Journal of Toxicological and Environmental Health – Part A* 66:47-66.

Brooks, K.M., D. Goyette and S. Christi. 2006. Sooke Basin Creosote Evaluation: Results of the October 2005 Reconnaissance Survey. Produced for: Creosote Evaluation Committee, care of Mr. Scott Moseley, Environmental Services – Real Property and Technical Support Division, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Pacific Yukon Region, 201-401 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3S5. 150 p.

Brooks, K.M. 2004a. Environmental Response to ACZA Treated Wood Structures in a Pacific Northwest Marine Environment. Prepared for J.H. Baxter and Company, San Mateo, CA by Aquatic Environmental Sciences, Port Townsend, WA. April 15, 2004.

Brooks, K.M. 2004b. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Migration from Creosote-Treated Railway Tie into Ballast and Adjacent Wetlands. Research Paper FPL-RP-617. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. 53 p.

Brooks, K.M. 2003. Literature Review, Computer Model and Assessment of the Potential Environemtnal Risks Associated with Copper Napthenate Treated Wood Products used in Aquatic Environments. A report prepared for Mr. Gerald Davis, Merichem Chemicals and Refinery Services, LLC, Tuscaloosa, AL, February 15, 2003.

Brooks, K.M. 2000. Assessment of the Environmental Effects Associated with Wooden Bridges Preserved with Creosote, Pentachlorophenol, or Chromated Copper Arsenate. Research Paper FPL-RP-587. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. 100 p.

Brooks, K.M. 1997a. Literature Review and Assessment of Environmental Risks Associated with the Use of ACZA Treated Wood Products in Aquatic Environments. Prepared for Western Wood Preservers Institute, Vancouver, WA by Aquatic Environmental Sciences, Port Townsend, WA. August 1, 1997. 61 p.

Brooks, K.M. 1997b. Literature Review and Assessment of Environmental Risks Associated with the Use of CCA Treated Wood Products in Aquatic Environments. Aquatic Environmental Sciences, Port Townsend, WA. August 1, 1997. 59 p.

Brooks, K.M. 1995a. Assessment of the environmental risks associated with the use of treated wood in lotic systems. Prepared by: Aquatic Environmental Sciences, 644 Old Eaglemount Road, Port Townsend, Washington 98368. Prepared for: Western Wood Preservers Institute, 601 Main Street, Suite 401, Vancouver, Washington 98660. September 19. 17 pages.

Brooks, K.M. 1995b. Literature review and assessment of the environmental risks associated with the use of ACZA treated wood products in aquatic environments. Prepared by: Aquatic Environmental Sciences, 644 Old Eaglemount Road, Port Townsend, Washington 98368. Prepared for: Western Wood Preservers Institute, 601 Main Street, Suite 401, Vancouver, Washington 98660. June. 62 pages.

Buchman, M.F., 1999. NOAA Screening Quick Reference Tables (SQuiRTs), NOAA HAZMAT Report 99-1, Seattle WA, Coastal Protection and Restoration Division, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 12 p., updated September 1999.

Bue, B.G., S. Sharr. And J.E. Seeb. 1998. Evidence of Damage to Pink Salmon Populations Inhabiting Prince William Sound, Alaska, Two Generations After the *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 127:35-43.

Carls, M.G., S.D. Rice and J.E. Hose. 1999. Sensitivity of Fish Embryos to Weathered Crude Oil: Part 1 Low Level Exposure during Incubation Causes Malformations, Genetic Damage, and Mortality in Larval Pacific Herring (*Clupea pallasi*). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 18:481-493.

Castanon, David. Personal Communication, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Regulatory Branch, Los Angeles District, November 30, 2004.

Cherr and Vines, 1997. Herring Pickles, Estuary Newletter On-Line. June, 1997. Available at: http://sfep.abag.ca.gov/news/newsletter/est9706.html

Collier, T.K., J.P. Meador and L.L. Johnson 2002. Introduction: Fish Tissue and Sediment Effects Thresholds for Polychlorinated Biphenyls, Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons, and Tributyl tin. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 12:489-492.

Diamond, S.A., D.R. Mount, V.R. Mattson, L.J. Heinis, T.L. Highland, A.D. Adams, and M.F. Simcik. 2006. Photoactivated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon toxicity in Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) Embryos: Relevance to Environmental Risk in Contaminated Sites. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 25:3015-3023.

Duesterloh, S., J. Short, and M.G. Barron. 2002. Photoenhanced Toxicity of Weathered Alaska North Slope Crude Oil to the Calanoid Copepods *Calanus marchallae* and *Metridia okhotensis*. *Environmental Science and Technology* 36:3953-3959

Eisler, R. 2000. Handbook of Chemical Risk Assessment: Health Hazards to Humans, Plants and Animals, Volume 1: Metals. First CRC Press LLC Printing 2000. 738 p.

EPA (Environmental Protection Agency) 2008a. Memorandum: Updated Ecological Risk Assessment for Creosote. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances. March 7, 2008. 56 p. Available through: http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/status_page_c.htm

EPA 2008b. Memorandum: Creosote – Preliminary Risk Assessment for the Reregristration Eligibility Decision Document (RED). PC Codes 022003, 025003, and 025004. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances. March 31, 2008. 89 p. Available through: http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/status_page_c.htm

EPA 2008c. Ecological Hazard and Environmental Risk Assessment RED Chapter for Inorganic Arsenical Wood Preservatives (CCA). United States Environmental Protection

Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances. March 10, 2008. 47 p. Available through: http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/status_page_c.htm

EPA 2008d. A Qualitative Economic Impact Assessment on the Use of Alternatives to Creosote as a Wood Preservative. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances. April 14, 2008. 52 p. Available through: http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/status_page_c.htm

EPA 2008e. A Qualitative Economic Impact Assessment on the Use of Alternatives to CCA as a Wood Preservative. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances. April 14, 2008. 56 p. Available through: http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/status page c.htm

EPA 2006. Reregistration Eligibility Decision (RED) for Coppers. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances. EPA 738-R-06-020. July 200. 98 p. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/oppsrrd1/REDs/copper-red.pdf

EPA 2003. Creosote: Risk Assessment and Science Support Branch's Revised Preliminary Risk Assessments and Science Chapters in Support of the Reregistration Eligibility, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Docket #OPP-2003-0248. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/factsheets/chemicals/creosote prelim risk assess.htm

FPL (Forest Products Laboratory) 2001a. Coatings Minimize Leaching from Treated Wood. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. December 2001. Available at: http://www.fpl.fs.fed.us/techlines.htm

FPL 2001b. Environmental Impact of Preservative-Treated Wood. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. November 2001. Available at: http://www.fpl.fs.fed.us/techlines.htm

FPL 2000. Environmental Impact of Preservative Treated Wood in a Wetland Boardwalk: Res. Paper FPL-RP-582. Madison, WI: U.S. Department of Agriculture., Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, 126 p.

Gorski, Stanley. Personal Communication, NOAA Fisheries, Northeast Region, Habitat Conservation Division, Fishery Biologist, March 27, 2008.

Goyette, D. and K.M. Brooks. 1998. Creosote Evaluation: Phase II. Sooke Basin Study – Baseline to 535 Days Post Construction, 1995-1996. Regional Program Report PR98-04. Prepared for the Creosote Evaluation Steering Committee. Environment Canada, North Vancouver, BC. December 1998. 484p.

Goyette, D. and K.M. Brooks. 2001. Addendum Report: Continuation of the Sooke Basin Creosote Evaluation Study (Goyette and Brooks 1998). Year Four: Day 1360 to Day

- 1540. Regional Program Report PR00-03. Prepared for the Creosote Evaluation Steering Committee. May 12, 2001. 74p.
- Hansen, J.A., J.C.A. Marr, J. Lipton, D. Cacela, and H.L. Bergman. 1999a. Differences in Neurobehavioral Responses of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) exposed to copper and cobalt: Behavioral Avoidance. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 18:1972-1978.
- Hansen, J.A., J.D. Rose, R.A. Jenkins, K.G. Gerow and H.L. Bergman. 1999b. Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Exposed to Copper: Neurophysiological and histological effects on the olfactory system. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 18:1979-1991.
- Hayward, Dennis. Personal Communication, Western Wood Preservers Institute, Executive Director, November 7, 2006.
- Hecht, S.A., D.H. Baldwin, C.A. Mebane, T. Hawkes, S.J. Gross and N.L. Scholz. 2007. An Overview of Sensory Effects on Juvenile Salmonids Exposed to Dissolved Copper: Applying a Benchmark Concentration Approach to Evaluate Sublethal Neurobehavioral Toxicity. U.S. Department of Commernce, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-83, 39 p. Available at:
- www.nwfsc.noaa.gov/assets/25/6696_11162007_114444_SensoryEffectsTM83Final.pdf
- Heintz, R.A., J.W. Short, and S.D. Rice. 1999. Sensitivity of Fish Embryos to Weathered Crude Oil: Part II.. Increased Mortality of Pink Salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) Embryos Incubating Downstream from Weathered Exxon Valdez Crude Oil. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 18:494-503.
- Hingston, J.A., C.D. Collins, R.J. Murphy, and J.N. Lester. 2001. Leaching of Chromated Copper Arsenate Wood Preservatives: A Review. *Environmental Pollution* 111:53-66.
- Hutton, K.E. and S.C. Samis, 2000. Guidelines to Protect Fish and Fish Habitat from Treated Wood Used in Aquatic Environments in the Pacific Region. *Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 2314: vi + 34 p.
- Incardona, J.P., M.G. Carls, H. Teraoka, C.A. Sloan, T.K. Collier and N.L. Scholz. 2005. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor-Independent Toxicity of Weathered Crude Oil During Fish Development. *Environmental Health Perspectives* Online: August 10, 2005
- Incardona, J.P., T.K. Collier, and N.L. Scholz. 2004. Defects in Cardiac Function Precede Morphological Abnormalities in Fish Embryos Exposed to Polcyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. *Toxicol. Applied Pharm.* 196:191-205.
- Ingram Jr., L.L., G.D. McGinnis, L.R. Gjovik, and G. Roberson. 1982. Migration of Creosote and its Components from Treated Wood Sections in a Marine Environment. In

Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Wood-Preservers' Association 87:120-128.

Johnson, L. 2000. An Analysis in Support of Sediment Quality Thresholds for Polycyclic Aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) to protect estuarine fish. White Paper form National Marine Fisheries Service, Northwest Fisheries Science Center, Seattle, WA. 29 p.

Johnson, L.L., T.K. Collier and J.E. Stein 2002. An analysis in support of sediment quality thresholds for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) to protect estuarine fish. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 12:517-538.

Johnson, L., S.Y. Sol, G.M. Ylitalo, T. Hom, B. French, O.P. Olson, and T.K. Collier. 1999. Reproductive Injury in English Sole (*Pleuronectes vetulus*) from the Hylebos Waterway, Commencement Bay, Washington. *Journal of Aquatic Ecosystems Stress and Recovery* 6:289-310.

Julliard, A.K., D. Saucier, and L. Astic. 1996. Time-course of Apoptosis in the Olfactory Epithelium of Rainbow Trout Exposed to a Low Copper Level. *Tissue Cell* 28:367-377.

Karrow, N.A., H.J. Boermans, D.G. Dixon, A. Hontella, K.R. Solomon, J.J. Whyte, and N.C. Bols. 1999. Characterizing the Immunotoxicity of Creosote to Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): a Microcosm Study. *Aq. Toxicol*. 45:223-239.

Kelty, R.A. and S. Bliven. 2003. Environmental and Aesthetic Impacts of Small Docks and Piers, Workshop Report: Developing a Science-based Decision Support Tool for Small Dock Management, Phase 1: Status of the Science. NOAA Coastal Ocean Program Decision Analysis Seriews No. 22. National Centers for Coastal Ocean Science, Silver Spring, MD. 69 p. Available at: http://www.cop.noaa.gov/pubs/das/welcome.html

Kennedy, Michael J. 2004. Depletion of Copper-based Preservatives from Pine Decking and Impacts on Soil-Dwelling Invertebrates. Prepared for the Proceedings of the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, Florida. February 8-10, 2004. Agency for Food and Fibre Sciences, Forestry Research, Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia.

Kreitman, Gayle. Personal communication, NOAA Fisheries Habitat Conservation Division, Lacy, WA. February 6, 2008.

Lebow, S., P. Cooper, and P. Lebow. 2004. Variability in Evaluating Environmental Effects of Treated Wood. Pages in Pre-Conference Proceedings, Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood. Florida Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste Management, Gainesville, FL. Available at: http://www.ccaresearch.org/Pre-Conference/#release

- Lebow, S., R.S. Williams, and P. Lebow. 2003. Effect of Simulated Rainfall and Weathering on Release of Preservative Elements from CCA Treated Wood. *Environmental Science and Technology* 37:4077-4082.
- Lebow, S.T. and M. Tippie, 2001. Guide for Minimizing the Effect of Preservative-Treated Wood on Sensitive Environments. Gen. Tech. Rep. FPL-GTR-122. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. 18p.
- Lebow, S. 1996. Leaching of Wood Preservative Components and their Mobility in the Environment Summary of Pertinent Literature. Gen. Tech. Report FPL-GTR-93. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI.
- Long, E.R. and L.G. Morgan, 1990. The Potential for Biological Effects of Sediment-Sorbed Contaminants Tested in the National Status and Trends Program. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS OMA 52, Seattle, WA.
- Long, E.R., L.J. Field and D.D. MacDonald, 1998. Predicting Toxicity in Marine Sediments with Numerical Sediment Quality Guidelines. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 17(4):714-727.
- Long, E.R., D.D. MacDonald, S.L. Smith, and F.D. Calder, 1995. Incidence of Adverse Biological Effects within Ranges of Chemical Concentrations in Marine and Estuarine Sediments. Environmental Management 19(1):81-97.
- Marty, G.D., J.W. Short, D.M. Dambach, N.H. Willits, R.A. Heintz, S.D. Rice, J.J. Stegeman and D.E. Hinton. 1997. Ascites, premature emergence, increased gonadal cell apoptosis, and cytochrome P4501A Induction in Pink Salmon Larvae Continuously Exposed to Oil-Contaminated Gravel during Development. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 75:989-1007.
- Meador, J.P., J.E. Stein. W.L. Reichert, and U. Varanasi. 1995. A Review of Bioaccumulation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons by Marine Organisms. *Reviews Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 143:79-165.
- Misitano, D.A., E. Casillas and C.R. Haley. 1994. Effects of Contaminated Sediment on Viability, Length DNA, and Protein Content of Larval Surf Smelt, *Hypomesus pretiosus*. *Marine Environmental Research* 37:1-21.
- Moran, D.T., J.C. Rowley, G.R. Aiken, and B.W. Jafek. 1992. Ultrastructural Neurobiology of the Olfactory Mucosa of the Brown Trout, *Salmo trutta*. Microscopy Res. Tech. 23:28-48.
- NMFS (National Marine Fisheries Service) 2007. Concurrence letter to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for Proposed Procedures for Permitting Projects that will Not Adversely Affect Selected Listed Species in California. February 14, 2007. 5 p.

NMFS 2006. Letter from Angela Somma, Chief, Endangered Species Division, NOAA Fisheries to Rosanna Louie, Chemical Review Manager, U.S. EPA Office of Pesticide Programs transmitting comments regarding the Ecological Risk Assessment for the reregistration of Copper-Containing Pesticides. Dated June 30, 2006. 3p. plus attachments.

NMFS 2004a. Letter from Roland Schmitten, Director, Office of Habitat Conservation to Richard Petrie, Senior Biologist/Team Leader, U.S. EPA Office of Pesticide Programs regarding the Re-Registration of Creosote under FIFRA. Dated September 27, 2004. 2p. plus attachments.

NMFS 2004b. Programmatic Biological and Conference Opinion and Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act Essential Fish Habitat Consultation for Revised Local Operating Procedures for Endangered Species (SLOPES III) to Administer Certain Activities Authorized or Carried Out by the Department of the Army in the State of Oregon and on the North Shore of the Columbia River, November 30, 2004. 181 p.

NMFS and USFWS 2004. Evaluation letter of an approach to assessing the ecological risks of pesticide products developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pesticide Programs under FIFRA. Signed January 26, 2004. 26 p. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/endangered/pdfs/Consultations/Pest/Pestevaluation.pdf

NMFS 2003. Draft NOAA Fisheries Northwest Region Habitat Conservation Division Guidance for Projects that Propose the Use of Treated Wood. 17 p.

NMFS 2001. Letter from William Hogarth, Acting Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, to Dennis Hayward, Executive Director, Western Wood Preservers Institute. February 28, 2001. 16 p.

NMFS 1998. Position Document for the Use of Treated Wood in Areas within Oregon Occupied by Endangered Species Act Proposed and Listed Anadromous Fish Species. December 1998. 15 p.

NOAA 2005. Management of Small Docks and Piers – Environmental Impacts and Issues. NOAA's Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management. May 2005. 21 p. Available at:

http://coastalmanagement.noaa.gov/initiatives/media/environmentalimpacts.pdf

NOAA 1999. Sediment Quality Guidelines developed for the National Status and Trends Program, 12 p., June 12, 1999. Available at: http://response.restoration.noaa.gov/book_shelf/121_sedi_qual_guide.pdf

Pelletier, M.C., R.M. Burgess, K.T. Ho, A. Kuhn, R.A. McKinney and S.A. Ryba. 1997. Phototoxicity of Individual Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Petroleum to Marine Invertebrate Larvae and Juveniles. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16:2190-2199.

- Poston, T. 2001. Treated Wood Issues Associated with Overwater Structures in Marine and Freshwater Environments. Prepared for the Washington Departments of Fish and Wildlife, Ecology, and Transportation. April 5, 2001. Olympia Washington, 85 p.
- Ritter, M.A., J.A. Kainz, and G.J. Porter. 1996a. Field Performance of Timber Bridges: 5. Little Salmon Creek Stress-Laminated Deck Bridge. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. Research Paper FPL-RP-547. 15 p. Available at: http://216.48.37.142/pubs/viewpub.jsp?index=58776
- Ritter, M.A., P.D.H. Lee, and G.J. Porter. 1996b. Field Performance of Timber Bridges: 6. Hoffman Run Stress-Laminated Deck Bridge. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, WI. Research Paper FPL-RP-549. 16 p. Available at: http://216.48.37.142/pubs/viewpub.jsp?index=5877
- Sandahl, J.F., D.H. Baldwin, J.J. Jenkins and N.L. Scholz. 2007. A Sensory System at the Interface between Urban Stormwater Runoff and Salmon Survival. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41:2998-3004.
- Sandahl, J.F., D.H. Baldwin, J.J. Jenkins and N.L. Scholz. 2004. Odor-evoked Field Potentials as Indicators of Sublethal Neurotoxicity in Juvenile Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) Exposed to Copper, Chlorpyrifos or Esfenvalerate. *Can. J. Fish. Aguat. Sci.* 61:404-413.
- Sherry, J.P., J.J. Whyte, N.A. Karrow, A. Gamble, H.J. Boerman, N.C. Bol, D.G. Dixon and K.R. Solomon. 2006. The Effect of Creosote on Vitellogenin Production in Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 50:65-68.
- Sibley, P.K., M.L. Harris, K.T. Bestari, T.A. Steele, R.D. Robinson, R.W. Gensemer, K.E. Day, and K.R. Solomon. 2004. Response of Zooplankton and Phytoplankton Communities to Creosote-Impregnated Douglas Fir Pilings in Freshwater Microcosms. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 47:56-66.
- Sibley, P.K., M.L. Harris, K.T. Bestari, T.A. Steele, R.D. Robinson, R.W. Gensemer, K.E. Day, and K.R. Solomon. 2001a. Response of Zooplankton Communities to Liquid Creosote in Freshwater Microcosms. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20:394-405.
- Sibley, P.K., M.L. Harris, K.T. Bestari, T.A. Steele, R.D. Robinson, R.W. Gensemer, K.E. Day, and K.R. Solomon. 2001b. Response of Phytoplankton Communities to Liquid Creosote in Freshwater Microcosms. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 20:2785-2793.
- Sibley, Tom. Personal communication, NOAA Fisheries Habitat Conservation Division, Branch Chief, North Puget Sound Habitat Branch, Seattle, WA. February 4, 2008.
- Stehr, C.M., D.W. Brown, T. Hom, B.F. Anulacion, W.L. Reichert and T.K. Collier. 2000. Exposure of juvenile Chinook and chum salmon to chemical contaminants in the

Hylebos Waterway of Commencement Bay, Tacoma, Washington. *Journal of Aquatic Ecosystem Stress and Recovery* 7:215-227.

Stillwell, D.E. and C.L. Mustane. 2004. Effect of Coatings on CCA Leaching from Treated Wood in a Soil Environment. Pages 113-123 in Pre-Conference Proceedings, Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood. Florida Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste Managemet, Gainesville, FL. Available at: http://www.ccaresearch.org/Pre-Conference/#release

Stefanovic, S.and P. Cooper. Leaching of CCA, ACQ, and CBA Components from Wood Exposed to Natural Weathering and Reaction of Leachates with Soil. Poster abstract in in Pre-Conference Proceedings, Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood. Florida Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste Managemet, Gainesville, FL. Available at: http://www.ccaresearch.org/Pre-Conference/#release

Stratus 2006a. Treated Wood in Aquatic Environments: Technical Review and Use Recommendations. Prepared for National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest Region, Habitat Conservation Division by Stratus Consulting, Inc., Boulder, CO. December 31, 2006. 162 p. Available at:

http://swr.nmfs.noaa.gov/wood/Copperwood_Report-final.pdf

Stratus 2006b. Creosote-Treated Wood in Aquatic Environments: Technical Review and Use Recommendations. Prepared for National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest Region, Habitat Conservation Division by Stratus Consulting, Inc., Boulder, CO. December 31, 2006. 106 p. Available at: http://swr.nmfs.noaa.gov/wood/Creosote Report-final.pdf

Sved, D.W., P.A. Van Veld, and M.H. Roberts Jr. 1992. Hepatic EROD Activity in spot, *Leiostomus xanthurus*, Exposed to Creosote-contaminated Sediments. *Marine Environmental Research* 34(1-4):189-193.

Swartz, R.C., S.P. Ferraro, J.O. Lamberson, F.A. Cole, R.J. Ozretich, B.L. Boese. D.W. Schults, M. Behrenfeld and G.T. Ankley. 1997. Photoactivation and Toxicity of Mixtures of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Compounds in Marine Sediment. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16:2151-2157.

SWRCB (State Water Resources Control Board) 2008. Draft Final Staff Report, Water Quality Control Plan for Enclosed Bays and Estuaries, Part 1: Sediment Quality. State Water Resources Control Board, California Environmental Protection Agency, 161 p. January 29, 2008.

USACE (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers) 2006. Proposed Procedures for Permitting Projects that will Not Adversely Affect Selected Listed Species in California. November 16, 2006. 41 p.

USACE 1996. Biological Assessment for the Use of Treated Wood in the Columbia River. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. November 1996.

U.S. EPA 2004. Overview of the Ecological Risk Assessment Process in the Office of Pesticide Programs. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency – Endangered and Threatened Species Effects Determinations. Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances, Office of Pesticide Programs, Washington, D.C. January 23, 2004. 106 p. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/endangered/pdfs/Consultations/Pest/Pestoverview.pdf

USFWS (United States Fish and Wildlife Service) 2001. Guidance on Environmental Considerations for the Use of Creosote and Other Toxic Preservatives on Bridges. Exhibit 3, 362 FW 2. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, September 21, 2001. 2 p. Available at: http://www.fws.gov/policy/e3362fw2.html

Varanasi, U., J.E. Stein, W.L. Reichert, K.L. Tilbury and S.L. Chan. 1992. Chlorinated and Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Bottom Sediments, Fish and Marine Mammals in US Coastal Waters: Laboratory and Field Studies of Metabolism and Accumulation. In: *Persistent Pollutants in the Marine Environment*, Eds.: Colin Walker and D.L. Livingstone, Pergamon Press, New York, NY, p. 83.

Varanasi, U. Ed. 1989. *Metabolism of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Aquatic Environment*, CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, FL. 341 p.

Vines, C.A., T. Robbins, F.J. Griffin, and G.N. Cherr. 2000. The Effects of Diffusible Creosote-derived Compounds on Development in Pacific Herring (*Clupea pallasi*). *Aquatic Toxicology* 51:225-239.

Wassenberg, D.M. and R.T. Di Giulio. 2004a. Synergistic Enbryotoxicity of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Aryl Hydrocarbon receptor Agonists with Cytochrome P4501A Inhibitors in *Fundulus heteroclitus*. *Environ*. *Health Perspect*. 112:1658-1664.

Wassenberg, D.M. and R.T. Di Giulio. 2004b. Teratogenesis in *Fundulus heteroclitus* Embryos Exposed to a Creosote Contaminated Sediment Extract and CYP1A Inhibitors. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 58:163-168.

Weis, J. and P. Weis. 2004. Effects of CCA Wood on Non-Target Aquatic Biota. Pages 32-44 in Pre-Conference Proceedings, Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood. Florida Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste Management, Gainesville, FL. Available at: http://www.ccaresearch.org/Pre-Conference/#release

Weis, J.S. and P. Weis, 2002. Contamination of Saltmarsh Sediments and Biota by CCA Treated Wood Walkways, *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 44:504-510,

Weis, J., and P. Weis. 1996. Reduction in Toxicity of Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)-Treated Woos as Assessed by Community Study, *Marine Environmental Research* 41:15-25.

Weis, J., and P. Weis. 1994. Effects of Contaminants from Chromated Copper Arsenate-Treated Lumber on Benthos. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 26:103-109.

Weis, J.S. and P. Weis. 1993. Trophic Transfer of Contaminants from Organisms Living by Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)-Treated Wood to their Predators. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 168:25-34

Weis, J.S. and P. Weis. 1992. Transfer of Contaminants from CCA-treated Lumber to Aquatic Biota. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 161:189-199.

Weis, J.S., P. Weis and T. Proctor. 1998. The Extent of Benthic Impacts of CCA-treated Wood Structures in Atlantic Coast Estuaries. *Archives Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 34:313-322

Weis, J.S., A. Cristini and K.R. Rao. 1992. Effects of Pollutants on Molting and Regeneration in Crustacea. *Amer. Zoo.* 32:495-500.

Weis, P., J.S. Weis and L.M. Coohill. 1991. Toxicity to Estuarine Organisms of Leachates from Chromated Copper Arsenate Treated Wood. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*. 20:118-124.

Woodbury, David. Personal Communication, NOAA Fisheries, Southwest Region, Protected Resources Division, Fishery Biologist, San Francisco Bay Team, December 17, 2007.

WWPI (Western Wood Preservers Institute) 2006a. Treated Wood in Aquatic Environments – A Specification and Environmental Guide to Selecting, Installing and Managing Wood Preservation Systems in Aquatic and Wetland Environments, August 1, 2006, 36 p. Available at:

http://www.wwpinstitute.org/mainpages/documents/AquaticGuide_August06_001.pdf

WWPI 2006b. Best Management Practices for the Use of Treated Wood in Aquatic and Other Sensitive Environments, August 1, 2006, 36. Available at: http://www.wwpinstitute.org/mainpages/documents/BMPBrochure_8.1.06.pdf

WWPI 2003. Protect Your Project with a Quality Sealer in Treated Wood News, Summer 2003, provided by the Western Wood Preservers Institute. 2p. Available at: http://www.wwpinstitute.org/treatedwoodnews/TWNews summer 2003.pdf

WWPI 1998. Environment and Economics, Treated Wood: the Win Win Solution, A Case Study by the Western Wood Preservers Institute. 8 p. Available at: http://www.wwpinstitute.org/pdffiles/tretdwodwin.pdf

WWPI 1996. Best Management Practices for the Use of Treated Wood in the Aquatic Environment. July 1996.

WWPI Undated. Treated Wood Aquatic Case History – Homeowner Chooses Treated Wood over Steel and Concrete – Saves \$58,000 on his Personal Use Dock.

Xie, K.Y., D.C. Locke, D. Habib, M. Judge, and C. Kriss. 1997. Environmental Chemical Impact of Recycled Plastic Timbers Used in the Tiffany Street Pier, South Bronx, New York. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 21:199-211.

References Considered, but Not Cited

Adams, M.A. 2002. Shoreline Structures Environmental Design: A Guide for Structures Along Estuaries and Large Rivers. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Vancouver, BC and Environment Canada, BC. 68 p + appendices. Available at: http://dev.stewardshipcanada.ca/sc_bc/stew_series/pdf/ShorelineStructures.pdf

Adler-Ivanbrook, L. and V.T. Breslin. 1999. Accumulation of Copper, Chromium and Arsenic in Blue Mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) from Laboratory and Field Exposures to Wood Treated with Chromated Copper Arsenate Type C. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem* 18:213-221.

Ameron International 2002. Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS), Amerlock 2/400 White Resin. 8 p.

Ameron International. 1999a. Amerlock 400, High-solids Epoxy Coating, Product Data/Application Instructions. 4 p.

Ameron International. 1999b. Amerlock 2, the Next Generation of Amerlock 400, Product Data/Application Instructions. 4 p.

Besser, J.M., N. Wang, F.JM. Dwyer, F.L. Mayer, Jr. and C.G. Ingersoll. 2005. Assessing Contaminant Sensitivity of Endangered and Threatened Aquatic Specis: Part II. Chronic Toxicity of Copper and Pentachlorophenol to Two Endangered Species and Two Surrogate Species. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 48:155-165.

Becker, L., G. Matuschek, D. Lenoir, and A. Kettrup. 2001. Leaching Behaviour of Wood Treated with Creosote. *Chemosphere* 42:301-308.

Black, J.J. and P.C. Baumann. 1991. Carcinogens and Cancers in Freshwater Fishes. *Environ. Health Pers.* 90:27-33

Blevin, S. and R. Kelty. 2005. Visual Impact Assessment of Small Docks and Piers: Theory and Practice. NOAA Coastal Ocean Program Decision Analysis Series No. 25. National Centers for Coastal and Ocean Science, Silver Spring, MD. 42 p. Available at: http://coastalscience.noaa.gov/publications/das25.pdf

Borthwick, P.W. and J.M. Patrick, Jr. 1982. Use of Aquatic Toxicology and Quantitative Chemistry to Estimate Environmental Deactivation of Marine-Grade Creosote in Seawater. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 1:281-288.

BPC 2005. June 3, 2004 Seminar: The Use and Permitting of Treated Wood in San Francisco Bay and Estuary. Seminar Report from the Bay Planning Coalition, 10 Lombard Street, Suite 408, San Francisco, CA. January 10, 2005. 11p.

Breslin, V.T. and L. Alder-Ivanbrook. 1998. Release of Copper, Chromium, and Arsenic from CCA-C Treated Lumber in Estuaries. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 46:111-125.

Brooks, K.M. Undated. Creosote Treated Piling – Perceptions Versus Reality. 15 p. Available at:

http://www.wwpinstitute.org/mainpages/documents/PugetSoundCreosoteReport.pdf

Brooks, K.M. Undated. Pressure Treated Wooden Utility Poles and Out Environment, North American Wood Pole Coalition Technical Bulletin. 8 p. Available at: http://www.woodpoles.org/PDFDocuments/polesandenvironment.pdf

Brooks, K.M. 2005c. Literature Review, Computer Model and Assessment of the Potential Environmental Risks Associated with Creosote Treated Wood Products Used in Aquatic Environments. Prepared for the Western Wood Preservers Institute. April 23, 1995. 137 p.

Brooks, K.M. 2004c. Literature Review and Assessment of the Environmental Risks Associated with the Use of CCA Treated Wood Products in Aquatic Environments. Prepared for the Western Wood Preservers Institute. December 12, 1994. 63 p.

Brooks, K.M. 2004d. The Affects of Dissolved Copper on Salmon and the Environmental Affects Associated with the use of Wood Preservatives in Aquatic Environments. Prepared for the Western Wood Preservers Institute. December 13, 2004. 20 p.

Brooks, K.M. 2003. Environmental Risk Assessment for CCA-C and ACZA Treated Wood. April 15, 2003. Available at:

http://www.wwpinstitute.org/pdffiles/CCA%20and%20ACZA%20Risk%20Assessment%20for%20Public%20Use.pdf

Brooks, K.M. 2000b. Final Report – Evaluation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Migration from Railway Ties into Ballast and Adjacent Wetlands. Prepared for Ms. Julia Wozniak, Midwest Generation, Corporate EH&S Froup, 440 S. Lasalle Street, Suite 3500, Chicago, IL. September 22, 2000. 34 p.

Brooks, K.M. 1999. Recommendations to the National Marine Fisheries Service for the use of CCA-C, ACZA, and Creosote Treated Wood Products in Aquatic Environments

Where Threatened or Endangered Species Occur. Prepared for the Western Wood Preservers Institute. November 3, 1999. 38 p.

Brooks, K.M. 1997c. Literature Review, Computer Model and Assessment of the Potential Environmental Risks Associated with Creosote Treated Wood Products Used in Aquatic Environments. Prepared for the Western Wood Preservers Institute. April 25, 1995, revised June 1, 1997.

Brooks, K.M. 1996. Evaluating the Environmental Risks Associated with the Use of Chromated Copper Arsenate-Treated Wood Products in Aquatic Environments. *Estuaries* 19:296-305.

Brown, C.J., and R.A Eaton. 2001. Toxicity of Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)-Treated Wood to Non-Target Marine Fouling Communities in Langstone Harbour, Portsmouth, UK. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 42:310-318.

Brown, C.J., R.A. Eaton and C.H. Thorp. 2001. Effects of Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA) Wood Preservative on Early Fouling Community Formation. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 42:1103-1113.

Chan, S.M., W-X Wang, and I-H Ni. 2003. The Uptake of Cd, Cr, and Zn by the Macroalga *Enteromorpha crinita* and Subsequent Transfer to the Marine Herbivorous Rabbitfish, *Siganus canaliculatus*. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol*. 44:298-306.

Chapman, G.A. 1978. Toxicities of Cadmium, Copper and Zinc to Four Juvenile Stages of Chinook Salmon and Steelhead. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 107:841-847.

Chapman, G.A. and D.G. Stevens. 1978. Acutely Lethal Levels of Cadmium, Copper and Zinc to Adult Male Coho Salmon and Steelhead. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 107:837-840.

Chapman, P.M., F. Wang, C. Janssen, G. Persoone, and H.E. Allen. 1998. Ecotoxicology of Metals in Aquatic Sediments: Binding and Release, Bioavailability, Risk Assessment, and Remediation. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 55:2221-2243.

Clausen, C.A. 2000. Isolating Metal-Tolearnt Bacteria Capable of Removing Copper, Chromium and Arsenic from Treated Wood. *Waste Management Res.* 18:264-268.

Clausen, C.A., and R.L. Smith. 1998. Removal of CCA from Treated Wood by Oxalic Acid Extraction, Steam Explosion, and Bacterial Fermentation. *J. Industrial Microbio. And Biotech.* 20:251-257.

CM Waterfront Solutions. Undated. TimberGuard Marine Piling and Timber. Website at: http://www.cmiwaterfront.com/Timberguard/TimberGuard.php

- Colavecchia, M.V., S.M. Backus, P.V. Hodson, and J.L. Parrott. 2004. Toxicity of Oil Sands to Early Life Stages of Fathead Minnows (*Pimephales promelas*). *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 23:1709-1718.
- Dickey, P. 2003. Guidelines for Selecting Wood Preservatives. Prepared for the San Francisco Department of the Environment by the Washington Toxics Coalition. 56 p.
- Dwyer, F.J., F.L. Mayer, L.C. Sappington, D.R. Buckler, C.M. Bridges, I.E. Greer, D.K. Hardesty, C.E. Henke, C.G. Ingersoll, J.L. Kunz, D.W. Whites, T. Augspurger, D.R. Mount, K. Hattala and G.N. Neuder. 2005. Assessing Contaminant Sensitivity of Endangered and Threated Aquatic Species: Part 1. Acute Toxicity of Five Chemicals. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicolo.* 48:143-154.
- Gagne, F., S. Trottier, C. Blaise, J. Sproull and B. Ernst. 1995. Genotoxicity of Sediment Extracts Obtained in the Vicinity of a Creosote-Treated Wharf to Rainbow Trout Hepatocytes. *Toxicol. Letters* 78:175-182.
- Groenier, J.S. and S. Lebow. 2006. Preservative-Treated Wood and Alternative Products in the Forest Service. Tech. Rep. 0677-2809-MTDC. Missoula, MT: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Missoula Technology and Development Center. 44 p.
- Hamilton, S.J. and K.J. Buhl. 1990 Safety Assessment of Selected Inorganic Elements to Fry of Chinook Salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety* 20:307-324.
- Hansen, J.A., J. Lipton, P.G. Welsh, D. Cacela and B. MacConnell. 2004. Reduced Growth of Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Fed a Live Invertebrate Diet Preexposed to Metal-Contaminated Sediments. *Environ. Toxicol, Chem.* 23:1902-1911.
- Hansen, J.A., P.G. Welsh, J. Lipton, and D. Cacela. 2002a. Effects of Copper Exposure on Growth and Survival of Juvenile Bull Trout. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 131:690-697.
- Hansen, J.A., J. Lipton and P.G. Welsh. 2002b. Relatively Sensitivity of Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) and Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) to Acute Copper Toxicity. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 21:633-639
- Hansen, J.A., J. Lipton, P.G. Welsh, J. Morris, D. Cacela, and M.J. Suedkamp. 2002c. Relationship between Exposure Duration, Tissue Residues, Growth and Mortality in Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Juveniles Sub-Chronically Exposed to Copper. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 58:175-188.
- Hansen, J.A., D.F. Woodward, E.E. Little, A.J. DeLonay, and H.L. Bergman. 1999. Behavioral Avoidance: Possible Mechanism for Explaining Abundance and Distribution of Trout Species in a Metal-Impacted River. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 18:313-317.
- Hingston, J.A., R.J. Murphy and J.N. Lester. 2006. Monitoring Losses of Copper Based Wood Preservatives in the Thames Estuary. *Environ. Poll.* 143:367-375.

Hingston, J.A., C.D. Collins, R.J. Murphy and J.N. Lester. 2001. Leaching of Chromated Copper Arsenate Wood Preservatives: A Review. *Environ. Poll.* 111:53-66.

Horness, B.H., D.P. Lomax, L.L. Johnson, M.S. Myers, S.M. Pierce and T.K. Collier. 1998. Sediment Quality Thresholds: Estimates from Hockey Stick Regression of Liver Lesion Prevalence in English Sole. *Environ. Toxicol. and Chem.* 17:872-882.

Hyland, J.L., R.F. Van Dolah, and T.R. Snoots. 1999. Predicting Stress in Benthic Communities of Southeastern U.S. Estuaries in Relation to Chemical Contamination of Sediments. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 18:2557-2564.

Hyotylainen, T. and A. Oikari. The Toxicity and Concentration of PAHs in Creosote-Contaminated Lake Sediment. *Chemosphere* 38:1135-1144.

Kamunde, C.N., M. Grosell, J.N.A. Lott and C.M Wood. 2001. Copper Metabolism and Gut Morphology in Reainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) During Chronic Sublethal Dietary Copper Exposure. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 58:293-305.

Katz, C.N. 1998. Seawater Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Copper in San Diego Bay. Technical Report 1768. Space and Naval Warfare Systems Center, San Diego, CA. April 1998. 60 p. Available at: http://www.spawar.navy.mil/sti/publications/pubs/tr/1768/tr1768.pdf

Kennedy, Michael J. 2004. Depletion of Copper-Based Preservatives from Pine Decking and Impacts on Soil-Dwelling Invertebrates. Prepared for Proceedings of the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, FL, February 8-10, 2004. 11 p. Available at: http://www.ccaconference.org/pre/index.htm

Kim, H., D-J. Kim, J-H. Koo, J-G. Park, and Y-C. Jang. 2007. Distribution and Mobility of Chromium, Copper and Arsenic in Soils Collected near CCA-Treated Wood Structures in Korea. *Sci. Total Environ*. 374:273-281.

Kravitz, M.J., J.O. Lamberson, S.P. Ferraro, R.C Swartz, B.L. Boese and D.L. Specht. 1999. Avoidance Response of the Estuarine Amphipod *Eohaustorius estuarius* to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Field Collected Sediments. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 18:1232-1235.

Lebow, S. 2004. Alternatives to Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA) for Residential Construction. Prepared for Proceedings of the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, FL, February 8-10, 2004. 11 p. Available at: http://www.ccaconference.org/pre/index.htm

Lebow, S. 2001a. Environmental Impact of Preservative-Treated Wood. Forest Products Laboratory Techline. December, 2001. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 2 p.

- Lebow, S. 2001b. Coatings Minimize Leaching From Treated Wood. Forest Products Laboratory Techline. November, 2001. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 2 p.
- Lebow, S.T., S.A. Halverson, J.J. Morrell and J. Simonsen. 2000. Role of Construction Debris in Release of Copper, Chromium, and Arsenic from Treated Wood Structures. Res. Pap. FPL-RP-584. Madison, WI: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 6 p. Available at: http://www.fpl.fs.fed.us/documnts/fplrp/fplrp584.pdf
- Lebow, S.T. and J.W. Evans. 1999. Effect of Prestain on the Release Rate of Copper, Chromium, and Arsenic from Western Hemlock. Res. Note FPL-RN-0271. Madison, WI: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 6 p.
- Lebow, S.T., D.O. Foster, and P.K. Lebow. 1999. Release of Copper, Chromium, and Arsenic from Treated Southern Pine Exposed in Seawater and Freshwater. *Forest Products Journal* 49:80-89.
- Linbo, T.L., C.M. Stehr, J.P. Incardona and N.L. Scholz. 2006. Dissolved Copper Triggers Cell Death in the Peripheral Mechanosensory System of Larval Fish. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 25:597-603.
- Marr, J.C.A., J. Lipton, D. Cacela, J.A. Hansen, J.S. Mayer and H.L. Bergman. 1999. Bioavailability and Acute Toxicity to Copper to Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in the Presence of Organic Acids Simulating Natural Dissolved Organic Carbon. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 56:1471-1483.
- Marr, J.C.A., J.A. Hansen, J.S. Meyer, D.Cacela, T. Podrabsky, J. Lipton, and H.L. Bergman. 1998. Toxicity of Cobalt and Copper to Rainbow Trout: Application of a Mechanistic Model for Predicting Survival. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 43:225-238.
- Marr, J.C.A., J. Lipton, D. Cacela, J.A. Hansen, H.L. Bergman, J.S. Meyer, and C. Hogstrand. 1996. Relationship Between Copper Exposure Duration, Tissue Copper Concentration, and Rainbow Trout Growth. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 36:17-30.
- Marr, J.C.A., H.L. Bergman, J. Lipton, and C. Hogstrand. 1995a. Differences in Relative Sensitivity of Naïve and Metals-Acclimated Brown and Rainbow Trout Exposed to Metals Representative of the Clark Fork River, Montana. *Can. J. Aquat. Sci.* 52:2016-2030.
- Marr, J.C.A., H.L. Bergman, M. Parker, J. Lipton, D. Cacela, W. Erikson and G.R. Phillips. 1995b. Relative Sensitivity of Brown and Rainbow Trout to Pulsed Exposures of an Acutely Lethal Mixture of Metals Typical of the Clark Fork River, Montana. *Can. J. Aquat. Sci.* 52:2005-2015.

Meyer, J.N., and R.T. Di Giulio. 2003. Heritable Adaptation and Fitness Costs in Killifish (Fundulus heteroclitus) Inhabiting a Polluted Estuary. *Ecological Applications* 13:490-503.

Myers, M.S., L.L. Johnson, T. Hom, T.K. Collier, J.E. Stein and U. Varanasi. 1998. Toxicopathic Hepatic Lesions in Subadult English Sole (Pleuronectes vetulus) from Puget Sound, Washington, USA: Relationships with Other Biomarkers of Contaminant Exposure. *Marine Environmental Research* 45:47-67.

Northstar Vinyl. Undated. 21 Poly – Wood Treatment for the 21st Century. Website at: http://www.northstarvinyl.com/default.asp

Oros, D.R. and M.S. Connor. 2006. Workshop Report: The Effects of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) in San Francisco Bay Sediments. SFEI Contribution 518. San Francisco Estuary Institute, Oakland, CA. 13 p + appendices.

OSMB 2001a. Best Management Practices for Environmental and Habitat Protection in Design and Construction of Recreational Boating Facilities. Oregon State Marine Board, September 2001, revised September 2002. 8 p. Available at: http://www.oregon.gov/OSMB/library/docs/BoatingFacBMP2002-1.pdf

OSMB 2001b. Best Management Practices for Environmental and Habitat Protection During Operation and Maintenance of Recreational Boating Facilities. Oregon State Marine Board, September 2001, revised September 2002. 3 p. Available at: http://www.oregon.gov/OSMB/library/docs/BoatingFacOMBMP2002-2.pdf

Ozretich, R.J., S.P. Ferraro, J.O. Lamberson, and F.A Cole. 2000. Test of ∑ Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Model at a Creosote-Contaminated Site, Elliott Bay, Washington, USA. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 19:2378-2389.

Padma, T.V., R.C. Hale, and M.H. Roberts, Jr. 1998. Toxicity of Water-Soluble Fractions Derived from Whole Creosote and Creosote-Contaminated Sediments. *Environ. Toxic. Chem.* 17:1606-1610.

Pearson Pilings. Undated. Pearson fiberglass pilings – Driven to Last, Brochures and Ads website at http://www.pearsonpilings.com/brochures.html

Pilon, J. editor. 2002. Best Management Practices for the Use of Preservative-Treated Wood in Aquatic Environments in Michigan with Special Provisions and Design Criteria for Engineers. Developed under the authority of the Michigan Timber Bridge Initiative. Available at: http://www.deq.state.mi.us/documents/deq-lwm-nfip-woodPreservativeBMPManualFinalCopy.pdf

Rice, C.A., M.S. Myers, M.L. Willis, B.L. French and E. Casillas. 2000. From Sediment Bioassay to Fish Biomarker – Connecting the Dots Using Simple Trophic Relationships. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 50:527-533.

Scott, G.R. and K.A. Sloman. 2004. The Effects of Environmental Pollutants on Complex Fish Behaviour: Integrating Behavioural and Physiological Indicators of Toxicity. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 68:369-392.

Sinnott, T.J. 2000. Assessment of the Risks to Aquatic Life from the Use of Pressure Treated Wood in Water. Prepared by Timothy J. Sinnott, Standards and Criteria Unit Leader, Bureau of Habitat, Ecotoxicology Section, Division of Fish, Wildlife and Marine Resources, New York State Department of Environmental Conservation. March 17, 2000. 45 p. Available at:

http://nysl.nysed.gov/uhtbin/cgisirsi/Ci8eafBDgK/NYSL/310320017/523/3757

Sloman, K.A., D.W. Baker, C.M. Wood and G. MacDonald. 2002. Social Interactions Affect Physiological Consequences of Sunlethal Copper Exposure in Rainbow Trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 21:1255-1263. Solo-Gabriele, H.M., T.G. Townsend and Y. Cai. 2004. Environmental Impacts of CCA-Treated Wood Within Florida, USA. Prepared for Proceedings of the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, FL, February 8-10, 2004. 11 p. Available at: http://www.ccaconference.org/pre/index.htm

Solo-Gabriele, H.M., T.G. Townsend, and J.D. Schert. 2004. Research Priorities Workshop. Report from the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, FL, February 8-10, 2004. 36 p.

Stehr, C.M., D.W. Brown, T. Hom, B.F. Anulacion, W.L. Reichert and T.K. Collier. 2000. Exposure of Juvenile Chinook and Chum Salmon to Chemical Contaminants in the Hylebos Waterway of Commencement Bay, Tacoma, Washington. *J. Aquat. Ecosystem Stress and Recovery* 7:215-227.

Stefanovic, S., and P. Cooper. 2004. Leaching of CCA, ACQ, and CBA Components from Wood Exposed to Natural Weathering and Reaction of Leachates with Soil. Poster prepared for Proceedings of the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, FL, February 8-10, 2004. 11 p. Available at: http://www.ccaconference.org/pre/index.htm

Stillwell, D., M. Toner, and B. Sawhney. 2003. Dislodgeable Copper, Chromium and Arsenic from CCA-Treated Wood Surfaces. *Sci. Total Environ*. 312:123-131.

Sved, D.W., M.H. Roberts, Jr., and P.A. Van Veld. 1997. Toxicity of Sediments Contaminated with Fractions of Creosote. *Wat. Res.* 31:294-300.

Sved, D.W. and M.H. Roberts, Jr. 1995. A Novel Use for the Continuos-Flow Serial Diluter: Aquatic Toxicity Testing of Contaminated Sediments in Suspension. *Wat. Res.* 29:1169-1177.

Swartz, R. 1999. Consensus Sediment Quality Guidelines for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Mixtures. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 18:780-787.

Tarakanadha, B., J.J. Morrell and K. Satyanarayana Rao. 2004. Impacts of Wood Preservatives (CCA, CCB, CDDC, ACZA, ACQ and ACC) on the Settlement and Growth of Fouling Organisms. Prepared for Proceedings of the Environmental Impacts of Preservative-Treated Wood Conference, Orlando, FL, February 8-10, 2004. 11 p. Available at: http://www.ccaconference.org/pre/index.htm

TimberSIL Products. 2005. TimberSIL® converted glass matrix, found in situ in TimberSIL® wood, Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS). Available at: http://timbersilwood.com/pdf/material-safety-data.pdf

Townsend, T., B. Dubey, T. Tolaymat, and H. Solo-Gabriele. 2005. Preservative Leaching form Weathered CCA-Treated Wood. *J. Environ. Manage*. 75:105-113.

USACE 2004. Department of the Army General Permit, New Jersey-SPGP-19. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Philadelphia District. December 30, 2004. 8p. Available at: http://www.nap.usace.army.mil/cenap-op/regulatory/spgp19.pdf

USACE 1997. Engineering and Design, Composite Materials for Civil Engineering Structures. Technical Letter No. 1110-2-548. March 31, 1997. Available at: http://www.usace.army.mil/publications/eng-tech-ltrs/etl1110-2-548/entire.pdf

Warner, J.E., and K.R. Solomon. 1990. Acidity as a Factor in Leaching of Copper, Chromium and Arsenic from CCA-Treated Dimension Lumber. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 9:1331-1337.

Weis, P., and J.S. Weis. 1999. Accumulation of Metals in Consumers Associated with Chromated Copper Arsentate-Treated Wood Panels. *Marine Environmental Research* 48:73-81

Weis, J.S. and P. Weis. 1992b. Construction Materials in Estuaries: Reduction in the Epibiotic Community on Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)-Treated Wood. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 83:45-53.

Weis, P., J.S. Weis, J. Couch, C. Daniels and T. Chen. 1995. Pathological and Genotoxicological Observations in Oysters (Crassostrea virginica) Living on Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)-Treated Wood. *Marine Environ. Res.* 39:275-278.

Weis, P., J.S. Weis and E. Lores. 1993. Uptake of Metals from Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)-Treated Lumber by Epibiota. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 26:428-430.

Weis, P., J.S. Wies and T. Proctor. 1993. Copper, Chromium, and Arsenic in Estuarine Sediments Adjacent to Wod Treated with Chromated Copper Arsenate. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science* 36:71-79.

- Weis, P., J.S. Weis, A. Greenberg and T. Nosker 1992. Toxicity of construction materials in the marine environment: A comparison of CCA-treated wood and recycled plastic. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 22: 99-106.
- Weis, P., J.S. Weis and L.M. Coohill. 1989. Biological Impact of Wood Treated with Chromated Copper Arsenate on Selected Estuarine Organisms. In: Pesticides in Terrestrial and Aquatic Environments Proceedings of a National Research Conference, May 11-12, 1989. Virginia Water Resources Research Center, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, 1989. Edited by D.L. Weigmann. Pages 19-28.
- Welsh, P.G., J. Lipton, G.A. Chapman, and T.L. Podrabsky. 2000. Relative Importance of Calcium and Magnesium in hardness-Based Modification of Copper Toxicity. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 19:1624-1631.
- Williams, R.S. and W.C. Feist. 1999. Water Repellents and Water-Repellent Preservatives for Wood. Gen Tech Rep. FPL-GTR-109. Madison, WI: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 12 p.
- WWPI 1996. Best Management Practices for the Use of Treated Wood in Aquatic Environments, USA Version. Revised July 1996. 27 p.
- Xiao, Y, J. Simonsen and J.J. Morrell. 2002. Effects of Water Flow Rate and Temperature on Leaching from Creosote-Treated Wood. Res. Note FPL-RN-0286. Madison, WI: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory. 6 p.